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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors of OAO LUKOIL:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of OAO LUKOIL and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related cdasedl statements of income, stockholders’ equity an
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each efy#ars in the three-year period ended December 31,
2009. These consolidated financial statementsharedsponsibility of the management of OAO LUKOIL.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on alitsau

We conducted our audits accordance with auditing standards generallypisl in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan @&nfbgpn the audit to obtain reasonable assurancatabo
whether the financial statements are free of nltemisstatement. An audit includes consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a ka®eir designing audit procedures that are apprtpimathe
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaim opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordin, we express no such opinion. An audit alsoudek
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingatheunts and disclosures in the financial statesnent
assessing the accounting principles used and ®ignif estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement predenaWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis

for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects,

the financial position of OAO LUKOIL and its sub&des as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows éach of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2009, in conformity with accountingh@ples generally accepted in the United States of
America.

ZA0 KA

ZAO KPMG
Moscow, Russian Federation
March 19, 2010



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008

(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Note 2009 2008
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 2,274 2,239
Short-term investments 75 505
Accounts and notes receivable, 5 5,935 5,069
Inventories 6 5,432 3,735
Prepaid taxes and other expenses 3,549 3,566
Other current assets 574 519
Total current assets 17,839 15,633
Investments 7 5,944 3,269
Property, plant and equipment 8 52,228 50,088
Deferred income tax assets 12 549 521
Goodwill and other intangible assets 9 1,653 1,159
Other non-current assets 806 791
Total assets 79,019 71,461
Liabilities and Stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 4,906 5,029
Short-term borrowings and current portion of loegat debt 10 2,058 3,232
Taxes payable 1,828 1,564
Other current liabilities 902 750
Total current liabilities 9,694 10,575
Long-term debt 11,15 9,265 6,577
Deferred income tax liabilities 12 2,080 2,116
Asset retirement obligations 8 1,189 718
Other long-term liabilities 412 465
Total liabilities 22,640 20,451
Equity 14
OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity
Common stock 15 15
Treasury stock, at cost (282) (282)
Additional paid-in capital 4,699 4,694
Retained earnings 51,634 45,983
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (75) (70)
Total OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity 55,991 50,340
Non-controlling interests 388 670
Total equity 56,379 51,010
Total liabilities and equity 79,019 71,461

7 /-

President of OA&LUKOIL
Alekperov V.Y.

Chief accountaht gf OAO KOIL
Kozyrev |.A.

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Income

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Note 2009 2008 2007
Revenues
Sales (including excise and export tariffs) 22 83,0 107,680 81,891
Costs and other deductions
Operating expenses (7,124) (8,126) (6,172)
Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products 1319 (37,851) (27,982)
Transportation expenses (4,830) (5,460) (4,457)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,30 (3,860) (3,207)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (3,937) (2,958) (2,172)
Taxes other than income taxes 12 (6,474) (13,464) (9,367)
Excise and export tariffs (13,058) (21,340) (15,033)
Exploration expenses (218) (487) (307)
Loss on disposals and impairments of assets (381) (425) (123)
Income from operating activities 9,778 13,709 13,071
Interest expense (667) (391) (333)
Interest and dividend income 134 163 135
Equity share in income of affiliates 7 351 375 347
Currency translation (loss) gain (520) (918) 35
Other non-operating expense (13) (244) (240)
Income before income tax 9,063 12,694 13,015
Current income taxes (1,922) (4,167) (3,410)
Deferred income taxes (72) 700 (39)
Total income tax expense 12 (1,994) (3,467) (3,449)
Net income 7,069 9,227 9,566
Less: net income attributable to non-controllingpiests (58) (83) (55)
Net income attributable to OAO LUKOIL 7,011 9,144 9,511
Basic and diluted earnings per share of common gtdSkdollars)
attributable to OAO LUKOIL: 14 8.28 10.88 11.48

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity an€omprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200
(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted

2009 2008 2007
Stockholders’ Comprehen- Stockholders’ Comprehen- Stockholders’ Comprehen-
equity  sive income equity  sive income equity  sive income
Common stock
Balance as of January 1 15 15 15
Balance as of December 31 15 15 15
Treasury stock
Balance as of January 1 (282) (1,591) (1,098)
Stock purchased - (219) (712)
Stock disposed - 1,528 219
Balance as of December 31 (282) (282) (1,591)
Additional paid-in capital
Balance as of January 1 4,694 4,499 3,943
Premium on non-outstanding shares issued - 20 -
Effect of stock compensation plan 20 103 103
Changes in non-controlling interests (15) - -
Proceeds from sale of treasury stock in excess
of carrying amount - 72 453
Balance as of December 31 4,699 4,694 4,499
Retained earnings
Balance as of January 1 45,983 38,349 30,061
Net income 7,011 7,011 9,144 9,144 9,511 9,511
Dividends on common stock (1,360) (1,510) (1,223)
Balance as of December 31 51,634 45,983 38,349
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of
tax
Balance as of January 1 (70) (59) (22)
Pension benefits:
Prior service cost (4) 4) (5) (5) (16) (16)
Actuarial gain (loss) 1 1 (6) (6) (22) (22)
Unrecognized loss on available-for-sale
securities (2) (2) - - - -
Balance as of December 31 (75) (70) (59)
Total comprehensive income for the year 7,006 9,133 9,473
Total OAO LUKOIL stockholders’ equity
as of December 31 55,991 50,340 41,213
Non-controlling interests
Balance as of January 1 670 577 523
Net income attributable to non-controlling
interests 58 83 55
Changes in non-controlling interests (340) 10 (2)
Balance as of December 31 388 670 577
Total equity as of December 31 56,379 51,010 41,790

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity an€omprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200

(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted

Share activity

2009 2008 2007
(thousands of shares) (thousands of shares) (thousands of shares)

Common stock, issued

Balance as of January 1 850,563 850,563 850,563
Balance as of December 31 850,563 850,563 850,563
Treasury stock

Balance as of January 1 (3,836) (23,321) (23,632)

Purchase of treasury stock - (2,899) (8,756)

Disposal of treasury stock - 22,384 9,067
Balance as of December 31 (3,836) (3,836) (23,321)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 200

(Millions of US dollars)

Note 2009 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 7,011 9,144 9,511
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 3,937 58,9 2,172
Equity share in income of affiliates, net of dividis received (213) (238) 209
Dry hole write-offs 117 317 143
Loss on disposals and impairments of assets 381 5 42 123
Deferred income taxes 72 (700) 39
Non-cash currency translation (gain) loss (57) (668) 251
Non-cash investing activities (20) (29) (36)
All other items — net 138 404 297
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and notes receivable (1,171) 2,647 (2,297)
Inventories (1,719) 963 (1,148)
Accounts payable 96 (989) 1,599
Taxes payable 292 (521) 386
Other current assets and liabilities 19 599 (368)
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,883 1312 10,881
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of licenses (40) (12) (255)
Capital expenditures (6,483) (10,525) (9,071)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 91 166 72
Purchases of investments (216) (398) (206)
Proceeds from sale of investments 478 636 175
Sale of interests in subsidiaries and affiliatethpanies 92 3 1,136
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and non-controllingteirests
(including advances related to acquisitions), nét castk
acquired (2,845) (3,429) (1,566)
Net cash used in investing activities (8,923) (13,559) (9,715)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net movements of short-term borrowings (1,281) 974 (59)
Cash received under sales-leaseback transaction 35 2 -
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 5,467 842,8 2,307
Principal repayments of long-term debt (2,697) (1,547) (1,632)
Dividends paid on company common stock (1,337) (1,437) (1,230)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest stoclders (85) (168) (78)
Financing received from related and third party-gontrolling
interest stockholders 20 39 177
Purchase of Company’s stock - (219) (712)
Proceeds from sale of Company’s stock - - 129
Other — net - 2 -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 87 763 (1,098)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvatnts (12) (118) 21
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 35 1,398 89
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 92,23 841 752
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3 2,274 2,239 841
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paid 520 440 338
Income taxes paid 1,575 4,902 2,872

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 1. Organization and environment

The primary activities of OAO LUKOIL (the “Companyand its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
oil exploration, production, refining, marketingdadistribution. The Company is the ultimate paremtity
of this vertically integrated group of companies.

The Group was established in accordance with ReaSal Decree 1403, issued on November 17, 1992.
Under this decree, on April 5, 1993, the Governnadrthe Russian Federation transferred to the Compa
51% of the voting shares of fifteen enterprisesdé&inGovernment Resolution 861 issued on September 1
1995, a further nine enterprises were transferoethé Group during 1995. Since 1995, the Group has
carried out a share exchange program to increasshéreholding in each of the twenty-four founding
subsidiaries to 100%.

From formation, the Group has expanded substantiabugh consolidation of its interests, acquisitpf
new companies and establishment of new businesses.

Business and economic environment

The Russian Federation has been experiencing qadléind economic change, that has affected and will
continue to affect the activities of enterprisesraping in this environment. Consequently, operegim the
Russian Federation involve risks, which do not ¢gfly exist in other markets. In addition, the mce
contraction in the capital and credit markets hathér increased the level of economic uncertaimtshe
environment.

The accompanying financial statements reflect mamamt's assessment of the impact of the business
environment in the countries in which the Grouprafpes on the operations and the financial posiiote
Group. The future business environments may diften management’s assessment.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have besaped by the Company in accordance with accogintin
principles generally accepted in the United Stafemerica (“US GAAP”).

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Principles of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include fthencial position and results of the Company,
controlled subsidiaries of which the Company disectr indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting
interest, unless minority stockholders have sultistarparticipating rights, and variable interestitss
where the Group is determined to be the primanebeiary. Other significant investments in companid
which the Company directly or indirectly owns beéne20% and 50% of the voting interest and over lwhic
it exercises significant influence but not contr@le accounted for using the equity method of acttog.
Investments in companies of which the Company tirear indirectly owns more than 50% of the voting
interest but where minority stockholders have safiste participating rights are accounted for using
equity method of accounting. Undivided interest®ilnand gas joint ventures are accounted for usieg
proportionate consolidation method. Investments other companies are recorded at cost. Equity
investments and investments in other companiesnaheded in “Investments” in the consolidated bakan
sheet.



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftynwith US GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repatedunts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effitancial statements, and the reported amountsvehues

and expenses during the reporting period. Sigmfiageems subject to such estimates and assumptions
include the carrying value of oil and gas propertend other property, plant and equipment, goodwill
impairment assessment, asset retirement obligatide$erred income taxes, valuation of financial
instruments, and obligations related to employaeefis. Eventual actual amounts could differ frdrode
estimates.

Revenue

Revenues from the production and sale of crudarallpetroleum products are recognized when titbsgm
to customers at which point the risks and rewafdsamership are assumed by the customer and the jari
fixed or determinable. Revenues include excise enofeum products sales and duties on export sdles
crude oil and petroleum products.

Revenues from non-cash sales are recognized atathenarket value of the crude oil and petroleum
products sold.

Foreign currency translation

The Company maintains its accounting records irsRuasrubles. The Company’s functional currencyes t
US dollar and the Group’s reporting currency istttgdollar.

For operations in the Russian Federation and ®mihjority of operations outside the Russian Fditera
the US dollar is the functional currency. Where W& dollar is the functional currency, monetaryeéssnd
liabilities have been translated into US dollarstla rate prevailing at each balance sheet date- No
monetary assets and liabilities have been tramsiate US dollars at historical rates. Revenuepeages
and cash flows have been translated into US dodlarates, which approximate actual rates at the ofa
the transaction. Translation differences resulfiogn the use of these rates are included in theaadated
statement of income.

For certain other operations outside the Russiatefadion, where the US dollar is not the functional
currency and the economy is not hyperinflationagsets and liabilities are translated into US delt
year-end exchange rates and revenues and expeesgarslated at average exchange rates for the yea
Resulting translation adjustments are reflectea separate component of comprehensive income.

In all cases, foreign currency transaction gaind Esses are included in the consolidated statemient
income.

As of December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, exchartgs od 30.24, 29.38 and 24.55 Russian rubles to the
US dollar, respectively, have been used for traiosigpurposes.

The Russian ruble and other currencies of republidhe former Soviet Union are not readily coniset
outside of their countries. Accordingly, the traatigin of amounts recorded in these currencies Wfo
dollars should not be construed as a representdiatrsuch currency amounts have been, could tdlan
the future be converted into US dollars at the arge rate shown or at any other exchange rate.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly ligoigestments with an original maturity of three rtienor
less.



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

Cash with restrictions on immediate use

Cash funds for which restrictions on immediate st are accounted for within other non-curreseés
Accounts and notes receivable

Accounts and notes receivable are recorded at titagisaction amounts less provisions for doubtélits.
Provisions for doubtful debts are recorded to tkterst that there is a likelihood that any of theoamts due
will not be collected. Non-current receivables discounted to the present value of expected casvsfin
future periods using the original discount rate.

Inventories

Starting from January 1, 2009, the Group electedhtange the inventory accounting method for finitshe
goods and purchased products from the weightechgeetio the FIFO cost method. Management believes
the FIFO cost method for these inventory categasigseferable because it reflects the resulthefrhost
recent business activity and allows a more rapil@cton of results of operations, and represenietter
matching of cost of sales with related sales. Theu® determined that it is impracticable to caltelthe
cumulative effect of applying this change retrospety because of the lack of information available

The cost of all other inventory categories is dateed using an “average cost” method.
Investments

Debt and equity securities are classified into ohéhree categories: trading, available-for-sateheld-to-
maturity.

Trading securities are bought and held principédlly the purpose of selling in the near term. Held-t
maturity securities are those securities in whicBraup company has the ability and intent to haitilu
maturity. All securities not included in trading loeld-to-maturity are classified as available-fates

Trading and available-for-sale securities are medrat fair value. Held-to-maturity securities egeorded

at cost, adjusted for the amortization or accretibpremiums or discounts. Unrealized holding gaind
losses on trading securities are included in thesglidated statement of income. Unrealized holdjains
and losses, net of the related tax effect, on abklfor-sale securities are reported as a sepepatponent

of comprehensive income until realized. Realizethgyaand losses from the sale of available-for-sale
securities are determined on a specific identificabasis. Dividends and interest income are reieegnin

the consolidated statement of income when earned.

A permanent decline in the market value of anylabég-for-sale or held-to-maturity security beloastis
accounted for as a reduction in the carrying amdonfair value. The impairment is charged to the
consolidated statement of income and a new cost basthe security is established. Premiums and
discounts are amortized or accreted over the fitherelated held-to-maturity or available-foresakcurity

as an adjustment to yield using the effective ggerate method and such amortization and accréion
recorded in the consolidated statement of income.

Property, plant and equipment
Oil and gas properties are accounted for usingticeessful efforts method of accounting whereby@rty
acquisitions, successful exploratory wells, all @epment costs, and support equipment and facildie

capitalized. Unsuccessful exploratory wells areemged when a well is determined to be non-prodeictiv
Other exploratory expenditures, including geolograd geophysical costs are expensed as incurred.

10



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

The Group continues to capitalize costs of exptoyatvells and exploratory-type stratigraphic welths
more than one year after the completion of drillihthe well has found a sufficient quantity of eeges to
justify its completion as a producing well and tt@mpany is making sufficient progress assessing the
reserves and the economic and operating viabilityhe project. If these conditions are not met for i
information that raises substantial doubt about ¢kenomic or operational viability of the projeet i
obtained, the well would be assumed impaired, gddsts, net of any salvage value, would be cllatge
expense.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization of capital costs of oil and gas properties is calculatgdg the
unit-of-production method based upon proved resefee the cost of property acquisitions and proved
developed reserves for exploration and developirests.

Production and related overhead costs are expessiedurred.

Depreciation of assets not directly associated wiklproduction is calculated on a straight-linesisaover
the economic lives of such assets, estimated to e following ranges:

Buildings and constructions 5-40 Years
Machinery and equipment 5-20 Years

In addition to production assets, certain Group gamies also maintain and construct social assetthéo
use of local communities. Such assets are camthlimly to the extent that they are expected toltrés
future economic benefits to the Group. If capitdizthey are depreciated over their estimated eo@no
lives.

Significant unproved properties are assessed feaimment individually on a regular basis and any
estimated impairment is charged to expense.

Asset retirement obligations

The Group records the fair value of liabilitiesateld to its legal obligations to abandon, dismaotie
otherwise retire tangible long-lived assets in pleeiod in which the liability is incurred. A corgganding
increase in the carrying amount of the related Joreyl asset is also recorded. Subsequently, &gty is
accreted for the passage of time and the relatest asdepreciated using the unit-of-productionhoet

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of ajuieed entity over the net of the amounts assigioed
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. It iggassi to reporting units as of the acquisition déeodwill

is not amortized, but is tested for impairmenteaist on an annual basis and between annual testeifent
occurs or circumstances change that would mordylittean not reduce the fair value of a reportingt un
below its carrying amount. The impairment test rezgiestimating the fair value of a reporting uanitd
comparing it with its carrying amount, includingagtwill assigned to the reporting unit. If the esited fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its netyiag amount, including goodwill, then the goodwd
written down to its implied fair value.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives tested for impairment at least annually. Intangddeets that
have limited useful lives are amortized on a shilipe basis over the shorter of their usefulegdl lives.

11



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as oil and gas propemig®( than unproved properties), other propergnpland
equipment, and purchased intangibles subject tat@ation, are assessed for impairment wheneventeve
or changes in circumstances indicate that the icayrgmount of an asset group may not be recoverable
Recoverability of assets to be held and used isuned by a comparison of the carrying amount cisset
group to the estimated undiscounted future castsflexpected to be generated by that group. If dneying
amount of an asset group exceeds its estimategamdited future cash flows, an impairment charge is
recognized by writing down the carrying amount e estimated fair value of the asset group, gelgeral
determined as discounted future net cash flowset&s® be disposed of are separately presenteakin t
balance sheet and reported at the lower of thegjiogriamount or fair value less costs to sell, aralreo
longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities disposed group classified as held for sale areenmted
separately in the appropriate asset and liabiéittiens of the balance sheet.

Income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities aregeized in respect of future tax consequences attitle to
temporary differences between the carrying amoohexisting assets and liabilities for the purpostthe
consolidated financial statements and their reggedax bases and in respect of operating losstaxd
credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assetd Babilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years/iich those temporary differences are expected to
reverse and the assets be recovered and liabitgdked. The effect on deferred income tax assets
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognizedhe consolidated statement of income in the ntépp
period which includes the enactment date.

The ultimate realization of deferred income taxetsss dependent upon the generation of futurebtaxa
income in the reporting periods in which the oraing expenditure becomes deductible. In asseskang
realizability of deferred income tax assets, managg considers whether it is more likely than matt tthe
deferred income tax assets will be realized. Inintathis assessment, management considers theuwetied
reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, progetfuture taxable income, and tax planning stiateg

An income tax position is recognized only if thecartain position is more likely than not of being&ined
upon examination, based on its technical meritsed®dgnized income tax position is measured ataigebt
amount that is greater than 50% likely of beinglized. Changes in recognition or measurement are
reflected in the period in which the change in juégt occurs. The Company records interest and tiemnal
relating to income tax in income tax expense inciiesolidated statements of income.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are initially recordadthe value of net proceeds received. Any diffeeen
between the net proceeds and the redemption valaenortized at a constant rate over the term of the
borrowing. Amortization is included in the consalidd statement of income each year and the carrying
amounts are adjusted as amortization accumulates.

If borrowings are repurchased or settled beforeunigf any difference between the amount paid dred t

carrying amount is recognized in the consolidatatesent of income in the period in which the repase
or settlement occurs.

12



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Pension benefits

The expected costs in respect of pension obligatirGroup companies are determined by an indepgénde
actuary. Obligations in respect of each employeeaacrued over the reporting periods during whih t
employee renders service in the Group.

The Group recognizes the funded status of postra@nt defined benefit plan in the balance shedt wit
corresponding adjustments to accumulated other pgmepsive income. The adjustment to accumulated
other comprehensive income represents the netegmezed actuarial gains and unrecognized prioriserv
costs. These amounts are subsequently recognizeet geriodic benefit cost. Further, actuarial gaand
losses that arise in subsequent periods and arecagnized as net periodic benefit cost in theespariods

are recognized as a component of other comprelemieme. These amounts are subsequently recognized
as a component of net periodic benefit cost onsdree basis as the amounts recognized in accumulated
other comprehensive income.

Treasury stock

Purchases by Group companies of the Company’'samalistg stock are recorded at cost and classified as
treasury stock within Stockholders’ equity. Shaskewn as Authorized and Issued include treasuigksto
Shares shown as Outstanding do not include treasoick.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingimeome available to common stockholders of the
Company by the weighted-average number of sharemwimon stock outstanding during the reporting
period. A calculation is carried out to establighthere is potential dilution in earnings per shdre
convertible securities were to be converted intaraf of common stock or contracts to issue shares o
common stock were to be exercised. If there is slilation, diluted earnings per share is presented.

Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the balance tstiate, which may result in losses to the Grouptbet
impact of which will only be resolved when one asma future events occur or fail to occur.

If a Group company’s assessment of a contingerdigates that it is probable that a material loss theen
incurred and the amount of the liability can benested, then the estimated liability is accrued anadrged

to the consolidated statement of income. If thessment indicates that a potentially material iesisot
probable, but is reasonably possible, or is prahablut cannot be estimated, then the nature of the
contingent liability, together with an estimatetbé range of possible loss, is disclosed in thestd the
consolidated financial statements. Loss contingenconsidered remote or related to unassertedchkaien
generally not disclosed unless they involve guaesit in which case the nature of the guarantee is
disclosed.

Environmental expenditures

Estimated losses from environmental remediationigabbns are generally recognized no later than
completion of remedial feasibility studies. Grougmpanies accrue for losses associated with enveatah
remediation obligations when such losses are pielminl reasonably estimable. Such accruals arstadju
as further information becomes available or cirdamses change. Costs of expected future expenslitore
environmental remediation obligations are not disted to their present value.

13



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)
Use of derivative instruments

The Group’s derivative activity is limited to cartgpetroleum products marketing and trading outsidigs
physical crude oil and petroleum products busiresse hedging of commodity price risks. Currentiis t
activity involves the use of futures and swaps @mi$ together with purchase and sale contracts tha
qualify as derivative instruments. The Group actsufor these activities under the mark-to-market
methodology in which the derivatives are revaluexthe accounting period. Resulting realized and
unrealized gains or losses are presented in theotidated statement of income on a net basis. Uneea
gains and losses are carried as assets or liabibt the consolidated balance sheet.

Share-based payments

The Group accounts for liability classified shaeséd payment awards to employees at fair valuden t
date of grant and as of each reporting date. Exgmeiase recognized over the vesting period. Equity
classified share-based payment awards to emplogeewvalued at fair value on the date of grant and
expensed over the vesting period.

Comparative amounts
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassiiembnform with the current period’s presentation.
Recent accounting pronouncements

In February 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Stedgldlpdate (ASU) No. 2010-0%ubsequent events”
which amends Accounting Standards Codification (AS. 855 (former SFAS No. 165Subsequent
events)), issued in May 2009. The Group adopted ASC N&. $arting from the second quarter of 2009.
These standards address accounting and disclosgugements related to subsequent events and eequir
management of an entity which is an SEC filer aa onduit bond obligator for conduit securitieatthre
traded in a public market to evaluate subsequeentethrough the date that the financial statemards
issued. Entities that do not meet these criteriaukhevaluate subsequent events through the date th
financial statements are available to be issued aned required to disclose the date through which
subsequent events have been evaluated. The Gréoepnileed that it should evaluate subsequent events
through the date the financial statements are aailto be issued and applied the requirementsSaf No.
2010-09 starting from the financial statements2f@®9.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010“Atcounting for Distributions to Shareholders with
Components of Stock and Cashhich addresses how an entity should accountherstock portion of a
dividend in certain arrangements when a sharehofddes an election to receive cash or stock, sulpec
limitations on the amount of the dividend to bauex$ in cash. The stock portion of the dividend #dhdne
accounted for as a stock issuance upon distributiesulting in basic earnings per share being &eljlus
prospectively. Prior to distribution, the entityibligation to issue shares would be reflected intekd
earnings-per-share based on the guidance in AS@®63).which addresses contracts that may be séttled
shares. This ASU is effective for interim and admeriods ending after December 15, 2009. The Group
adopted ASU No. 2010-01 for the 2009 annual finainsiatements. This adoption did not have a materia
impact on the Group’s results of operations, fifangosition or cash flows.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-@gcounting and Reporting for Decreases in
Ownership of a Subsidiary - A Scope Clarificatiotw’ clarify the scope of ASC Subtopic No. 810-10,
“Consolidation — Overall.” This ASU specifies that the guidance in ASC Suigtddo. 810-10 on
accounting for decreases in ownership of a subgidipplies to: (1) a subsidiary or group of assbét
constitutes a business or nonprofit activity; (Jubsidiary that is a business or a nonprofit &gtihat is
transferred to an equity method investee or a jeamture; and (3) an exchange of a group of ashats
constitute a business or nonprofit activity for ancontrolling interest in an entity. If a company’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that is not siteess or nonprofit activity decreases, then adiceounting
guidance generally would be applied based on thereaf the transaction. The new pronouncement also
clarifies that the recent guidance on accountimglérreases in ownership of a subsidiary does pyay af
the transaction is a sale of in-substance reateestaa conveyance of oil and gas properties. ASb is
effective for interim and annual periods endingafecember 15, 2009 and the guidance should Heedpp
on a retrospective basis to the first period inahithe company adopted ASC No. 810. The Group adopt
ASU No. 2010-02 for the 2009 annual financial stegats. This adoption did not have a material impact
the Group’s results of operations, financial positor cash flows.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010‘B8tractive activities— Oil and Gas (Topic 932): Qil
and Gas Reserve Estimation and Disclosurddie main provisions of ASU No. 2010-03 are tHiofing:

(1) expanding the definition of oil- and gas-proihgc activities to include the extraction of saleabl
hydrocarbons, in solid, liquid, or gaseous statemf oil sands, shale, coalbeds, or other nonrenewab
resources that are intended to be upgraded inthetyn oil or gas, and activities undertaken withiew to
such extraction; (2) entities should use first-d&yhe-month price during the 12-month period (&2
months average price) in calculating proved oil ayjas reserves and estimating related standardized
measure of discounted net cash flows; (3) requieimities to disclose separately information alyeserves
gquantities and financial statement amounts for gagutic areas that represent 15 percent or moreovkd
reserves; (4) separate disclosure for consolidatgities and equity method investments. ASU No.0203

is effective for annual reporting periods endingoorafter December 31, 2009. The Group adopted NSU
2010-03 for the 2009 annual financial statementss Bdoption did not have a material impact on the
Group’s reported reserves evaluation, results efatons, financial position or cash flows.

In June 2009, the FASB issued amendments to ASC8NIO. (former FASB Interpretation No. 46(R),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitie}"to address the effects of the elimination of thualifying
special purpose entity concept. More specificallgequires a qualitative rather than a quantieapproach

to determine the primary beneficiary of a varialolerest entity, it amends certain guidance peirigimo

the determination of the primary beneficiary whetated parties are involved, and it amends certain
guidance for determining whether an entity is aialde interest entity. Additionally, these amenditsen
require continuous assessment of whether an ergerfw the primary beneficiary of a variable instre
entity. Amendments are effective on January 1, 2ah@ the Group does not expect any material impact
its results of operations, financial position osltdlows upon adoption.

In June 2009, the FASB issued ASC No. 105 (formeAS No. 168, The FASB Accounting Standards
Codification™ and the Hierarchy of Generally AcasgbtAccounting Principles”)The FASB Accounting
Standards Codification (“Codification”) is the euslve authoritative reference for US GAAP recogdibg

the FASB and applied by nongovernmental entiti@sept for SEC rules and interpretive releases, fwhic
are also authoritative US GAAP for SEC registrafitse change established by ASC No. 105 divides
nongovernmental US GAAP into authoritative Codifica and guidance that is not authoritative. The
contents of the Codification carry the same le¥eluihority, eliminating the four-level US GAAP hégchy
previously set forth in SFAS No. 162. The Codifioatsupersedes all non-SEC accounting and reporting
standards. All other non-grandfathered, non-SEGuatting literature not included in the Codification
became nonauthoritative. This Statement is effedir financial statements issued for interim andual
periods ending after September 15, 2009. The Gaodpted ASC No. 105 starting from the third quaoter
2009. This adoption did not have any impact onGheup’s results of operations, financial positiarcash
flows.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policieécontinued)

In December 2008, the FASB amended ASC Nos. 310, 323, 405, 460, 470, 712, 715, 810, 815, 860,
954 and 958 (former FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R#sclosures about Transfers of Financial Assets
and Interest in Variable Interest Entitigs”It requires additional disclosures about trarssief financial
assets and requires public entities, including spanthat have a variable interest in a variablerast
entity, to provide additional disclosures aboutrthevolvement with variable interest entities. T&eoup
adopted new provisions starting from the fourthrtpraof 2008. This adoption did not have a material
impact on the Group’s results of operations, finangosition or cash flows.

In March 2008, the FASB issued ASC No. 815 (forrB&AS No. 161,'Disclosures about Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities"This ASC improves financial reporting about getive instruments
and hedging activities by enhanced disclosureseif teffects on an entity’s financial position, dircial
performance and cash flows. The Group adopted tbeigions of ASC No. 815 starting from the first
quarter of 2009. This adoption did not have anydatpon the Group’s results of operations, financial
position or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC No. 805 (#riBFAS No. 141 (Revised)Business
combinations). This ASC applies to all transactions in which antitg obtains control of one or more
businesses. In April 2009, this ASC was amendedraqdires an entity to recognize the total faiueabf
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a bssinembination; to recognize and measure the gdlodwi
acquired in the business combination or gain fronbaagain purchase and modifies the disclosure
requirements. The Group adopted the provisions € MANo. 805 for business combinations for which the
acquisition date is after December 31, 2008. Tdap#on did not have any impact on the Group’s ltesaf
operations, financial position or cash flows.

In December 2007, the FASB issued ASC No. 810 (#or®FAS No. 160;Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendmeAR® No. 51). This ASC applies to all entities that
prepare consolidated financial statements (exceptan-profit organizations) and affects those whiave

an outstanding noncontrolling interest (or minorityterest) in their subsidiaries or which have to
deconsolidate a subsidiary. This ASC changes #sification of a non-controlling interest; estabing a
single method of accounting for changes in the matempany’s ownership interest that does not tésul
deconsolidation and requires a parent company tmgréze a gain or loss when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. The Group prospectively adoptedptiogisions of ASC No. 810 in the first quarter of
2009, except for the presentation and disclosugglirements which were applied retrospectively. This
adoption did not have any impact on the Group’slte®f operations, financial position or cash ftow

In February 2007, the FASB issued ASC Nos. 470, &b 954 (former SFAS No. 159 he Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabiés”). These ASC expands the possibility of using fair
value measurements and permits enterprises to ehmomeasure certain financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value. Enterprises shall reporntrealized gains and losses on items for whictfdhevalue
option has been elected in earnings in each subsegeriod. The Group adopted the provisions of ASC
Nos. 470, 825 and 954 in the first quarter of 2808 elected not to use the fair value option ®firtancial
assets and financial liabilities not already cara fair value in accordance with other standafdss
adoption did not have any impact on the Group’slte®f operations, financial position or cash ftow

In September 2006, the FASB issued ASC No. 820n@orSFAS No. 157Fair Value Measurements),
which establishes a single authoritative definitmfnfair value, sets out a framework for measuriai
value and requires additional disclosures aboutJaiue measurements. Effective January 1, 2009, th
Group fully adopted ASC No. 820. Because there liysima lack of quoted market prices for long-live
assets, the Group determines fair value usingithgept value of estimated future net cash flomfusing
these assets or by using historical data of mar&asactions with similar assets where possible. édue
used in the initial recognition of asset retiremebtigations is determined using the present vaifie
expected future dismantlement costs, which arenastid based on the costs for dismantlement serfaces
similar assets providing by third parties. This gtittn did not have a material impact on the Group#®ults

of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Note 3. Cash and cash equivalents

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Cash held in Russian rubles 557 444
Cash held in other currencies 1,384 1,425
Cash of a banking subsidiary in other currencies 131 132
Cash held in related party banks in Russian rubles 174 182
Cash held in related party banks in other currencies 28 56
Total cash and cash equivalents 2,274 2,239

Note 4. Non-cash transactions

The consolidated statement of cash flows excludesffect of non-cash transactions, which are dmesadr
in the following table:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Non-cash investing activity 20 29 36
Non-cash acquisitions 100 1,969 -
Settlement of stock-based compensation plan ltgbili - - 537
Total non-cash transactions 120 1,998 573

The following table shows the effect of nhon-casimsactions on investing activity:

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Net cash used in investing activity 8,923 13,559 9,715
Non-cash acquisitions 100 1,969 -
Non-cash investing activity 20 29 36
Total investing activity 9,043 15,557 9,751

Note 5. Accounts and notes receivable, net

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Trade accounts and notes receivabk ¢f provisions of $191 million and $133 millias of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively) 4,389 3,466
Current VAT and excise recoverable 1,205 855
Other current accounts receivahiet(of provisions of $41 million and $38 million ak
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively) 341 748
Total accounts and notes receivable 5,935 5,069

Note 6. Inventories

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Crude oil and petroleum products 4,391 2,693
Materials for extraction and drilling 387 439
Materials and supplies for refining 37 35
Other goods, materials and supplies 617 568
Total inventories 5,432 3,735
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Note 7. Investments

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Investments in equity method affiliates and joiahtures 4,754 2,988
Long-term loans given by non-banking subsidiaries 1,176 251
Other long-term investments 14 30
Total long-term investments 5,944 3,269

Investments in “equity method” affiliates and corpate joint ventures

The summarized financial information below is ispect of equity method affiliates and corporatatjoi

ventures. The companies are primarily engaged udecroil exploration, production, marketing and
distribution operations in the Russian Federatmnde oil production and marketing in Kazakhstamj a

refining operations in Europe.

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

Group’s Group’s Group’s

Total share Total share Total share

Revenues 5,139 2,275 4,590 2,144 2,930 1,382
Income before income taxes 1,305 478 1,602 807 1,398 650
Less income taxes (407) (127) (869) (432) (605) (303)
Net income 898 351 733 375 793 347

As of December 31, 2009 As of December 31, 2008

Group’s Group’s

Total Share Total share

Current assets 6,796 1,524 2,023 982
Property, plant and equipment 18,877 5,284 5,872 2,841
Other non-current assets 607 240 544 269
Total assets 26,280 7,048 8,439 4,092
Short-term debt 442 274 158 a7
Other current liabilities 3,982 817 1,188 557
Long-term debt 7,769 732 890 392
Other non-current liabilities 1,633 471 220 108
Net assets 12,454 4,754 5,983 2,988

In December 2009, the Group acquired the remainingd6.0% interest in its equity affiliate
LUKARCO B.V. for $1.6 billion, thereby increasine ownership stake to 100%. LUKARCO B.V. is a
holding company, which owns a 5% share in Tengmahk a joint venture which develops the Tengizlan
Korolevskoe fields in Kazakhstan, and a 12.5% slare Caspian Pipeline Consortium (CPC), which
carries Kazakhstani and Russian oil to Novorossiyskine terminal. Therefore the Group increased the
ownership in Tengizchevroil from 2.7% to 5% and dvenership in CPC from 6.75% to 12.5%. The first
installment in the amount of $300 million was paiddecember 2009; the remaining amount should & pa
no later than two years after the acquisition. Bm@up is using the equity method of accounting for
investments in Tengizchevroil and CPC.
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Note 7. Investments (continued)

In June 2009, a Group company entered into an agnetewith Total to acquire a 45% interest in theNTR
refinery in the Netherlands. The transaction wasalited in September 2009 in the amount of
approximately $700 million. The Group supplies @wil and market refined products in line withetpuity
stake in the refinery. The refinery has the fldiipito process Urals blend crude oil as well agicant
volumes of straight-run fuel oil and vacuum gaswhjch will allow the Group to integrate the planto its
crude oil supply and refined products marketingrapens. This plant with a Nelson complexity indafx
9.8 has an annual topping capacity of 7.9 millionnies and an annual capacity of a hydro-crackimgodin
approximately 3.4 million tonnes. This acquisitislas made in accordance with the Group’s plans to
develop its refining capacity in Europe.

In June 2008, a Group company signed an agreemnERG S.p.A. to establish a joint venture to gper
the ISAB refinery complex in Priolo, Italy. In Deober 2008, the Group completed the acquisition of a
49% stake in the joint venture for €1.45 billionpgaoximately $1.83 billion) and paid €600 million
(approximately $762 million) as a first installmefihe remaining amount was paid in February 200@& T
seller has a put option, the effect of which woloddto increase the Group’s stake in the companyatipg

the ISAB refinery complex up to 100%. As of DecemBg, 2009, the fair value of this option for theoGp

is zero. The agreement states that each partmespensible for procuring crude oil and marketiefined
products in line with its equity stake in the joir@nture. The ISAB refinery complex has the flelipito
process Urals blend crude oil, and the Group iatiegrits share of the ISAB refinery complex capeicito

its crude oil supply and refined products marketpgrations. The ISAB refinery complex includesethr
jetties and storage tanks totaling 3,700 thousanmalccmeters and has an annual refining capacity of
16 million tonnes.

Note 8. Property, plant and equipment and asset retiremenbbligations

At cost Net
As of December As of December As of December As of December
31, 2009 31, 2008 31, 2009 31, 2008
Exploration and Production:
Western Siberia 23,465 21,663 13,878 12,784
European Russia 24,908 23,111 17,761 17,103
International 6,371 5,910 5,170 5,009
Total 54,744 50,684 36,809 34,896
Refining, Marketing, Distribution and Chemicals:
Western Siberia 6 122 5 107
European Russia 10,228 9,752 6,923 6,829
International 6,849 6,462 4,783 4,633
Total 17,083 16,336 11,711 11,569
Other:
Western Siberia 186 178 94 89
European Russia 3,951 3,618 3,491 3,385
International 189 200 123 149
Total 4,326 3,996 3,708 3,623
Total property, plant and equipment 76,153 71,016 5228 50,088

In December 2009, the Company performed a regummua impairment test of its exploration and
production assets. The test was based on geolagioaéls and development programs, which are revised
on a regular basis. As a result of the test, theng@@my recognized an impairment loss of $238 milfion
certain properties in the Timan-Pechora and Cemimmbpean regions of Russia. The fair value ofehes
assets was determined using the present valueeoéxpected cash flows. The Group also recognized an
impairment loss of $63 million related to the patje Iran due to incapability of undertaking fugthworks
because of the threat of economic sanctions d/h&overnment.
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Note 8. Property, plant and equipment and asset reement obligations (continued)

In June 2008, the Company performed an impairmesit of certain exploration and production assets
located in oil fields in the Timan-Pechora regidnRussia, due to a revision of geological modelse T
revision resulted in a reduction of planned dewvelept activities on these oil fields. The fair vabhfe¢hese
assets was determined using the present valueeokxpected cash flows. As a result, the Company
recognized an impairment loss of $156 million. lac@mber 2008, the Group recognized an impairmest lo
of $58 million relating to retail petrol stationsthe USA.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the asset retinewbligations amounted to $1,199 million and $728
million, respectively, of which $10 million was ilucled in “Other current liabilities” in the consddited
balance sheets as of each balance sheet dateg2@®® and 2008, asset retirement obligations athag
follows:

2009 2008
Asset retirement obligations as of January 1 728 821
Accretion expense 63 78
New obligations 146 54
Changes in estimates of existing obligations 311 (88)
Spending on existing obligations ) (8)
Property dispositions (13) 3)
Foreign currency translation and other adjustments (29) (126)
Asset retirement obligations as of December 31 1,199 728

The asset retirement obligations incurred durin@®2@nd 2008 were Level 3 (unobservable inputs) fair
value measurements.

Note 9. Goodwill and other intangible assets

The carrying value of goodwill and other intangilalssets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 was as
follows:

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008

Amortized intangible assets
Software 419 500
Licenses and other assets 465 335
Goodwill 769 324
Total goodwill and other intangible assets 1,653 1,159

All goodwill amounts relate to the refining, mariket and distribution segment.

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Group recognigeddwill related to acquisitions of a 100% inte¢ieshe
Akpet group, 100% interests in OO0 Smolenskneftes@®O IRT Investment, OO0 PM Invest and OOO
Retaier House and 100% interests in ZAO AssociaBoend and OOO Mega Oil M in the amount of $114
million, $165 million and $196 million, respectiyerefer to Note 16. Business combinations).

In December 2008, the Group recognized an impairrues of $100 million relating to goodwill on the
acquisition of Beopetrol due to the change in thenemic environment. Beopetrol is a marketing and
distribution company operating a chain of retailrplestations in Serbia. The fair value of Beopktas
determined using the present value of the expexzsd flows.
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Note 10. Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Short-term borrowings from third parties 442 2,301
Short-term borrowings from related parties 77 -
13,50% Russian ruble bonds 496 -
Current portion of long-term debt 1,043 931
Total short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 2,058 3,232

Short-term borrowings from third parties are unseduand include amounts repayable in US dollars of
$282 million and $1,529 million, amounts repayablduro of $76 million and $676 million and amounts
repayable in Russian rubles of $18 million and 8illion as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respelstiv
The weighted-average interest rate on short-termotings from third parties was 2.02% and 5.15% per
annum as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respactivel

Russian ruble bonds

In June 2009, the Company issued 15 million sherttstock exchange bonds with a face value of 1,000
Russian rubles each. Bonds were placed at thevidoe with a maturity of 364 days. The coupon yisld
13.5% per annum and is paid at the maturity date.

Note 11. Long-term debt

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Long-term loans and borrowings from third partiesluding loans from banks in the amount of
$3,967 million and $3,333 million as of December 3009 and 2008, respectively) 4,043 3,384
Long-term loans and borrowings from related parties 1,939 2,165
6.375% US dollar bonds, maturing 2014 895 -
6.356% US dollar bonds, maturing 2017 500 500
7.250% US dollar bonds, maturing 2019 595 -
6.656% US dollar bonds, maturing 2022 500 500
7.25% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2009 - 204
7.10% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2011 265 272
8.00% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 - 8
13.35% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 827 -
9.20% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2012 331 -
7.40% Russian ruble bonds, maturing 2013 198 204
Capital lease obligations 215 271
Total long-term debt 10,308 7,508
Current portion of long-term debt (1,043) (931)
Total non-current portion of long-term debt 9,265 6,577

Long-term loans and borrowings

Long-term loans and borrowings from third partiesluide amounts repayable in US dollars of $3,493
million and $2,844 million, amounts repayable inr&€wf $487 million and $375 million and amounts
repayable in Russian rubles of $42 million and $Xhllion as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. This debt has maturity dates from@20tough 2021. The weighted-average interestoate
long-term loans and borrowings from third partieasw2.77% and 4.09% per annum as of December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively. A number of long-téman agreements contain certain financial covenants
due levels of which are being met by the Group. ragnately 15% of total long-term debt is securgd b
export sales and property, plant and equipment.
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Note 11. Long-term debt (continued)

The Company has a secured loan agreement with Be@ank AG with an outstanding amount of $1,200
million as of December 31, 2009, maturing up to 20Borrowings under this agreement bear interest at
three month LIBOR plus 4.0% per annum.

A Group company has an unsecured syndicated lo@emgnt with an outstanding amount of $860 million
as of December 31, 2009, with maturity dates uga®d3. The loan was arranged by ABN AMRO Bank,
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, BNP Paribas, TtanliBof Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, ING Bank, Mizuho
Corporate Bank and WestLB. Borrowings under thiament bear interest from three month LIBOR plus
0.85% to three month LIBOR plus 0.95% per annum.

Two Group companies have unsecured loan agreemathtsan outstanding amount of $424 million as of
December 31, 2009, maturing up to 2011. The loaasevarranged by ABN AMRO Bank, The Bank of
Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Barclays Capital, BNP Parib&itibank, Dresdner Kleinwort, ING Bank and
WestLB. Borrowings under these agreements beamesttat three month LIBOR plus 3.25% per annum.

The Company has an unsecured syndicated loan agn¢evith the European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development with an outstanding amount of $258iamillas of December 31, 2009, maturing up to 2017.
Borrowings under this agreement bear interest fsommonth LIBOR plus 0.45% to six month LIBOR plus
0.65% per annum.

A Group company has a secured loan agreement,gaatany Credit Suisse, supported by an Overseas
Private Investment Corporation guarantee, with etstanding amount of $175 million as of December 31
2009. Borrowings under this agreement bear intexesix month LIBOR plus 4.8% per annum and have
maturity dates up to 2015.

A Group company has an unsecured loan agreemehtGifibank with an outstanding amount of $129
million as of December 31, 2009, maturing up to 20Borrowings under this agreement bear interest at
euribor plus 0.125% per annum.

The Company has an unsecured syndicated loan agngéeanranged by ABN AMRO Bank and CALYON
with an outstanding amount of $125 million as ofcBeber 31, 2009, maturing up to 2012. Borrowings
under this agreement bear interest at three mdBOR plus 0.40% per annum.

A Group company has an unsecured loan agreememntBMP Paribas with an outstanding amount of $119
million as of December 31, 2009, maturing up to&@orrowings under this agreement bear interesixat
month euribor plus 0.15% per annum.

A Group company has an unsecured loan agreemehtGifibank with an outstanding amount of $100
million as of December 31, 2009, maturing in 20R&rrowings under this agreement bear interest at on
month LIBOR plus 0.90% per annum.

As of December 31, 2009, the Group has a numbethefr loan agreements with fixed rates with a numbe
of banks and other organizations totaling $239iom|l maturing from 2010 to 2021. The weighted agera
interest rate under these loans was 4.12% per annum

As of December 31, 2009, the Group has a numbethafr floating rate loan agreements with a numiber o
banks and other organizations totaling $414 milliovaturing from 2010 to 2017. The weighted average
interest rate under these loans was 2.16% per annum
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Note 11. Long-term debt (continued)

A Group company has a number of loan agreementsnatea in Russian rubles with ConocoPhillips, the
Group'’s related party, with an outstanding amodr19939 million as of December 31, 2009. This antou
includes $1,660 million loaned by ConocoPhillipsatgoint venture OOO Narianmarneftegaz (“NMNG”)
(refer to Note 17. Consolidation of Variable Inrdentity). Borrowings under these agreements bear
interest at fixed rates ranging from 6.8% to 8.2866 annum and have maturity dates up to 2038. These
agreements are a part of the Company’s broad-basategic alliance with ConocoPhillips and this
financing is used to develop oil production and disribution infrastructure in the Timan-Pechoegion

of the Russian Federation.

US dollar bonds

In November 2009, a Group company issued two tremaf non-convertible bonds totaling $1.5 billion.
The first tranche totaling $900 million with a caupyield of 6.375% per annum was placed with a nitgtu

of 5 years at a price of 99.474% of the bond’s fealee. The resulting yield to maturity for thestitranche

is 6.500%. The second tranche totaling $600 milisdthh a coupon yield of 7.250% per annum was placed
with a maturity of 10 years at a price of 99.127%4he bond’s face value. The resulting yield to uniy

for the second tranche is 7.375%. These tranchasdhalf year coupon period.

In June 2007, a Group company issued non-convertibhds totaling $1 billion. $500 million were pdaic
with a maturity of 10 years and a coupon yield &#56% per annum. Another $500 million were placed
with a maturity of 15 years and a coupon yield @56% per annum. All bonds were placed at the face
value and have a half year coupon period.

Russian ruble bonds

In December 2009, the Company issued 10 millionksexchange bonds with a face value of 1,000 Rassia
rubles each. Bonds were placed at the face valtieaninaturity of 1,092 days. The bonds have a H2'd
coupon period and bear interest at 9.20% per annum.

In August 2009, the Company issued 25 million stegkghange bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russian
rubles each. Bonds were placed at the face valtieaninaturity of 1,092 days. The bonds have a H2'd
coupon period and bear interest at 13.35% per annum

In January 2007, OAO UGK TGK-8 (“TGK-8"), a subsidy acquired in 2008 (refer to Note 16. Business
combinations) issued 3.5 million non-convertiblent® with a face value of 1,000 Russian rubles each.
These bonds were placed at the face value with tarityaof 5 years, with a coupon yield of 8.0% per
annum and a half year coupon period. By the entMay 2009, TGK-8 redeemed all issued bonds in
accordance with the conditions of the bond issue.

In December 2006, the Company issued 14 million-camvertible bonds with a face value of 1,000
Russian rubles each. Eight million bonds were mlaséh a maturity of 5 years and a coupon yield of
7.10% per annum and six million bonds were placild avmaturity of 7 years and a coupon yield o0%4
per annum. All bonds were placed at the face vahegehave a half year coupon period.

In November 2004, the Company issued 6 million nonvertible bonds with a face value of 1,000 Russia
rubles each, maturing on November 23, 2009. Thelbbiad a half year coupon period and beard intatest
7.25% per annum. In November 2009, the Companyeradd all issued bonds in accordance with the
conditions of the bond issue.

Maturities of long-term debt
Annual maturities of total long-term debt duringethext five years, including the portion classifiasl

current, are $1,043 million in 2010, $1,890 million2011, $2,105 million in 2012, $524 million i®23,
$1,094 million in 2014 and $3,652 million thereafte
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Note 12. Taxes

The Group is taxable in a number of jurisdictionshim and outside of the Russian Federation andy as
result, is subject to a variety of taxes as esthbll under the statutory provisions of each jurtat.

The total cost of taxation to the Group is repoitethe consolidated statement of income as “Tiozdme
tax expense” for income taxes, as “Excise and éxpoiffs” for excise taxes, export tariffs and qm¢um
products sales taxes and as “Taxes other than md¢ares” for other types of taxation. In each catgg
taxation is made up of taxes levied at varioussratalifferent jurisdictions.

Until January 1, 2009, operations in the RussiatieFation were subject to a Federal income tax ahte
6.5% and a regional income tax rate that variechft®.5% to 17.5% at the discretion of the individua
regional administration. Starting on January 1, R0Me Federal income tax rate is 2.0% and regional
income tax rate varies from 13.5% to 18.0%. TheuBi®foreign operations are subject to taxes atdke
rates applicable to the jurisdictions in which tloperate.

As of January 1, 2009 and 2008, and during 20098 2hd 2007, the Group did not have any unrecodnize
tax benefits and thus, no interest and penaltieged to unrecognized tax benefits were accrueeé Th
Group’s policy is to record interest and penaltiekted to unrecognized tax benefits as componeits
income tax expense. In addition, the Group doeserpéect that the amount of unrecognized tax benefit
will change significantly within the next 12 months

The Company and its Russian subsidiaries file stimé& income tax returns in Russia. With a few
exceptions, income tax returns in Russia are opaxamination by the Russian tax authorities fer tdx
years beginning in 2007.

There are not currently, and have not been duhieghree years ended December 31, 2009, any prosisi
in the taxation legislation of the Russian Federatd permit the Group to reduce taxable profita i@roup
company by offsetting tax losses in another Groommany against such profits. Tax losses of a Group
company in the Russian Federation may, howeveuskd fully or partially to offset taxable profits ithe
same company in any of the ten years followingyier of loss.

Domestic and foreign components of income befoterire taxes were:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Domestic 9,013 12,767 11,699
Foreign 50 (73) 1,316
Income before income taxes 9,063 12,694 13,015

Domestic and foreign components of income taxeg wer

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Current
Domestic 1,677 3,614 2,940
Foreign 245 553 470
Current income tax expense 1,922 4,167 3,410
Deferred
Domestic 98 (523) 77
Foreign (26) 177) (38)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 72 (700) 39
Total income tax expense 1,994 3,467 3,449

24



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 12. Taxes (continued)

The following table is a reconciliation of the ambwf income tax expense that would result fromiapg
the Russian combined statutory income tax ratadome before income taxes to total income taxes:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Income before income taxes 9,063 12,694 13,015
Notional income tax at Russian statutory rate 1,813 3,047 3,123
Increase (reduction) in income tax due to:
Non-deductible items, net 252 792 372
Foreign rate differences 68 159 84
Effect of enacted tax rate changes - (299) -
Domestic regional rate differences (251) (261) (237)
Change in valuation allowance 112 29 107
Total income tax expense 1,994 3,467 3,449
Taxes other than income taxes were:
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Mineral extraction tax 5,452 12,267 8,482
Social taxes and contributions 399 512 442
Property tax 470 405 313
Other taxes and contributions 153 280 130
Taxes other than income taxes 6,474 13,464 9,367

Deferred income taxes are included in the cons@idlhalance sheets as follows:

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Other current assets 66 92
Deferred income tax assets — non-current 549 521
Other current liabilities (50) (49)
Deferred income tax liabilities — non-current (2,080) (2,116)
Net deferred income tax liability (1,515) (1,552)

The following tables set out the tax effects oftregpe of temporary differences which give riseléderred
income tax assets and liabilities:

As of December  As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Accounts receivable 42 50
Long-term liabilities 295 208
Inventories 5 17
Property, plant and equipment 209 226
Accounts payable 28 10
Operating loss carry forwards 555 578
Other 132 166
Total gross deferred income tax assets 1,266 1,255
Less valuation allowance (397) (285)
Deferred income tax assets 869 970
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Note 12. Taxes (continued)

As of December  As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
Property, plant and equipment (2,189) (2,226)
Accounts payable (6) 4)
Accounts receivable @) (21)
Long-term liabilities (58) (118)
Inventories (68) (57)
Investments (16) -
Other (40) (96)
Deferred income tax liabilities (2,384) (2,522)
Net deferred income tax liability (1,515) (1,552)

As a result of acquisitions and business combinatiduring 2009 and 2008 the Group recognized a net
deferred tax liability of $35 milion and $891 nidh, respectively. Also, in 2009, the
Group finalized purchase price allocation relategitior year acquisitions which resulted in a $1ilion
decrease of deferred tax liability.

As of December 31, 2009, retained earnings of foresubsidiaries included $17,261 million for which
deferred taxation has not been provided becausktaene of the earnings has been indefinitely porstol
through reinvestment and, as a result, such amametsconsidered to be indefinitely invested. Inat
practicable to estimate the amount of additiones$athat might be payable on such undistributediegs.

In accordance with ASC No. 830 (former SFAS No."&2reign currency translation) and ASC No. 740
(former SFAS No. 109;Accounting for Income Taxe$”deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognized for the changes in exchange rate effexsslting from the translation of transactions and
balances from the Russian rubles to the US do#arguhistorical exchange rates. Also, in accordamte
ASC No. 740, no deferred tax assets or liabilites recognized for the effects of the related stayu
indexation of property, plant and equipment.

Based upon the levels of historical taxable incaané projections for future taxable income over the
periods in which the deferred income tax assetsladeictible, management believes it is more likebn
not that Group companies will realize the beneaditshe deductible temporary differences and lossyca
forwards, net of existing valuation allowances BBecember 31, 2009 and 2008.

As of December 31, 2009, the Group had operatisg tarry forwards of $2,273 million of which $757
million expire during 2010, $82 million expire dng 2011, $196 million expire during 2012, $322 ruiil
expire during 2013, $58 million expire during 208§8 million expire during 2015, $9 million expire
during 2016, $2 million expire during 2017, $12liaih expire during 2018, $31 million expire durigg@19,

$1 million expire during 2020, $67 million expiraurthg 2026, $77 million expire during 2027, $202
million expire during 2028, $2 million expire dugn2035 and $397 million have an indefinite carry
forward.

Note 13. Pension benefits

The Company sponsors a postretirement benefitggmogrhe primary component of the post employment
and post retirement benefits program is a definedefit pension plan that covers the majority of the
Group’s employees. This plan is administered byoa-state pension fund, LUKOIL-GARANT, and
provides pension benefits primarily based on ye&rservice and final remuneration levels. The Comypa
also provides several long-term employee benefith sis death-in-service benefit and lump-sum patgnen
upon retirement of a defined benefit nature ancerottefined benefits to certain old age and disabled
pensioners who have not vested any pensions unel@ension plan.
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Note 13. Pension benefits (continued)

The Company’s pension plan primarily consists defined benefit plan enabling employees to conteitzu
portion of their salary to the plan and at retiraim® receive a lump sum amount from the Compamgakq

to all past contributions made by the employee am@% (prior to 2009 — 7%) of their annual salary.
Employees also have the right to receive uponemnt the benefits accumulated under the previous
pension plan that was replaced in December 2008sd lbenefits have been fixed and included in the
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2009 and 200 amount was determined primarily based on a
formula including past pensionable service andiredasalaries as of December 31, 2003.

The Company uses December 31 as the measuremenfoddts post employment and post retirement
benefits program. An independent actuary has asdeke benefit obligations as of December 31, 20G9
2008.

The following table provides information about thenefit obligations and plan assets as of DeceBiber
2009 and 2008. The benefit obligations below reprethe projected benefit obligation of the pengitam.

2009 2008
Benefit obligations
Benefit obligations as of January 1 288 328
Effect of exchange rate changes ) (56)
Service cost 17 22
Interest cost 23 19
Plan amendments 6 21
Actuarial gain 3) (5)
Acquisitions 8 1
Benefits paid (30) (42)
Curtailment gain (11) -
Benefit obligations as of December 31 291 288
Plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 88 108
Effect of exchange rate changes Q) (18)
Return on plan assets 12 6
Employer contributions 45 35
Divestiture (6) (1)
Benefits paid (30) (42)
Fair value of plan assets as of December 31 108 88
Funded status (183) (200)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance shess of December 31,
2009 and 2008
Accrued benefit liabilities included in “Other lontigrm liabilities” (143) (164)
Accrued benefit liabilities included in “Other cant liabilities” (40) (36)

Weighted average assumptions used to determinditellégations as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
Discount rate 8.70% 9.00%
Rate of compensation increase 8.10% 8.61%
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Note 13. Pension benefits (continued)

Weighted average assumptions used to determingeniedic benefit costs for the year ended Decer8her
2009 and 2008:

2009 2008
Discount rate 9.00% 6.34%
Rate of compensation increase 8.61% 8.12%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 10.89% 10.49%

Included in accumulated other comprehensive lossfd3ecember 31, 2009 and 2008, are the following
before-tax amounts that have not yet been recogizeet periodic benefit cost:

2009 2008
Unamortized prior service cost 96 92
Unrecognized actuarial gain (10) (5)
Total costs 86 87

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive lossdutie year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008:

2009 2008

Additional gain arising during the period (5) (2)
Additional prior service cost from plan amendment 6 21
Re-classified prior service cost amortization (2) (11)
Net amount recognized for the period (1) 9

The real returns on bonds and equities are basedhan is observed in the international markets over
extended periods of time. In the calculation of élxpected return on assets no use is made of sharibal
returns LUKOIL-GARANT has achieved.

In addition to the plan assets, LUKOIL-GARANT holdssets in the form of an insurance reserve. The
purpose of this insurance reserve is to satisfisipanobligations should the plan assets not becserfit to
meet pension obligations. The Group’s contributit;mthe pension plan are determined without comsige
the assets in the insurance reserve.

The plans are funded on a discretionary basis tfraa solidarity account, which is held in trust fwit
LUKOIL-GARANT. LUKOIL-GARANT does not allocate sepately identifiable assets to the Group or its
other third party clients. All funds of plan assatal other individual pension accounts are managed
pool of investments.
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Note 13. Pension benefits (continued)

The asset allocation of the investment portfolianm@ned by LUKOIL-GARANT for the Group and its
clients was as follows:

As of December As of December

Type of assets 31, 2009 31, 2008
Promissory notes of Russian issuers 3% 6%
Russian corporate bonds 25% 36%
Russian municipal bonds 4% 2%
Bank deposits 42% 22%
Equity securities of Russian issuers 8% 10%
Shares of OAO LUKOIL 2% 2%
Shares in investment funds 14% 20%
Other assets 2% 2%
100% 100%

The investment strategy employed by LUKOIL-GARANciudes an overall goal to attain a maximum
investment return, while guaranteeing the principailount invested. The strategy is to invest with a
medium-term perspective while maintaining a levelliguidity through proper allocation of investment

assets. Investment policies include rules andditiaibs to avoid concentrations of investments.

The investment portfolio is primarily comprised ioffestments: bank deposits, securities with fixexddy
and equity securities. The securities with fixe@ldiinclude mainly high yield corporate bonds and
promissory notes of banks with low and medium ragikngs. Maturities range from one to three years.

Components of net periodic benefit cost were devid:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Service cost 17 22 15
Interest cost 23 19 16
Less expected return on plan assets (10) (12) 9)
Amortization of prior service cost 2 11 8
Actuarial gain - - (2)
Curtailment gain (112) - -
Total net periodic benefit cost 21 41 29

Total employer contributions for 2010 are expedtetie $40 million. An amount of $13 million befotax
is included in other comprehensive income and ebgoeto be recognized in the net periodic benefit do
2010.

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture services, as appropriate, are expeotde t
paid:

5-year period 5-year period
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2010-2014 2015-2019

Pension benefits 54 13 14 13 13 107 49
Other long-term employee benefits 40 19 19 19 20 117 106
Total expected benefits to be paid 94 32 33 32 33 224 155
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Note 14. Stockholders’ equity

Common stock

As of December As of December

31, 2009 31, 2008
(thousands of (thousands of
shares) shares)
Authorized and issued common stock, par value@® Russian rubles each 850,563 850,563
Common stock held by subsidiaries, not considerexlitstanding (82) (82)
Treasury stock (3,836) (3,836)
Outstanding common stock 846,645 846,645

Dividends and dividend limitations

Profits available for distribution to common stoolders in respect of any reporting period are deitezd
by reference to the statutory financial statemeftthe Company prepared in accordance with the lafws
the Russian Federation and denominated in Russides: Under Russian Law, dividends are limiteth®
net profits of the reporting year as set out ingtatutory financial statements of the Company.s€haws
and other legislative acts governing the rightsiodireholders to receive dividends are subject timys
interpretations.

The Company’s net profits were 45,148 million Raasiubles, 66,926 million Russian rubles and 64,917
million Russian rubles respectively for 2009, 2@0®I 2007, pursuant to the statutory financial statgs,
which at the US dollar exchange rates as of Decer@he 2009, 2008 and 2007, amounted to $1,493
million, $2,278 million and $2,645 million, respaely.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 25920@0/idends were declared for 2008 in the amodint o
50.00 Russian rubles per common share, which atateeof the meeting was equivalent to $1.61.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 268200/idends were declared for 2007 in the amodint o
42.00 Russian rubles per common share, which atateeof the meeting was equivalent to $1.78.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 28,72@/idends were declared for 2006, in the amaiint
38 Russian rubles per common share, which at tteealdhe decision was equivalent to $1.47.

Earnings per share

The weighted average number of outstanding comni@ares was 846,646 thousand shares, 840,108
thousand shares and 828,501 thousand shares fos geded December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. There is no potential dilution inréags available to common stockholders and as dilcted
earnings per share are not disclosed.

Note 15. Financial and derivative instruments
Fair value

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, ouaecounts and notes receivable, long-term rebkiga
and liquid securities are approximately equal teirttvalue as disclosed in the consolidated findncia
statements. The fair value of long-term receivallas determined by discounting with estimated marke
interest rates for similar financing arrangements.
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Note 15. Financial and derivative instruments (coribued)

The fair value of long-term debt differs from thm@unt disclosed in the consolidated financial stetets.
The estimated fair value of long-term debt as otddeber 31, 2009 and 2008 was $9,976 million and
$5,425 million, respectively, as a result of disting using estimated market interest rates forilaim
financing arrangements. These amounts includautlld cash outflows associated with the long-teett d
repayments, including the current portion and egerMarket interest rates mean the rates of gaising-
term debt by companies with a similar credit rafimgsimilar tenors, repayment schedules and siroillaer
main terms. During the year ended December 31, ,20@9Group did not have significant transactions o
events that would result in nonfinancial assetsletilities measured at fair value on a nonrecgthasis.

Derivative instruments

The Group uses financial and commodity-based dérev&ontracts to manage exposures to fluctuations
foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prioesp exploit market opportunities. Since the Gragip
not currently using ASC Nos. 220, 310, 440 and @bEmer SFAS No. 133;Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activity’hedge accounting, all gains and losses, realiwednrealized, from
derivative contracts have been recognized in tihs@aated income statement.

ASC No. 815 requires purchase and sales contractsoinmodities that are readily convertible to cash
(e.g., crude oil, natural gas and gasoline) to dmonded on the balance sheet as derivatives utiiess
contracts are for quantities the Group expectstoar sell over a reasonable period in the norimaidse of
business (i.e., contracts eligible for the normatchases and normal sales exception). The Group doe
apply the normal purchases and normal sales exteficertain long-term contracts to sell oil proidu
This normal purchases and normal sales excepticapjdied to eligible crude oil and refined product
commodity purchase and sales contracts; howeverGtioup may elect not to apply this exception (e.g.
when another derivative instrument will be usedmitigate the risk of the purchase or sale conthaitt
hedge accounting will not be applied, in which cheéh the purchase or sales contract and the disgva
contract mitigating the resulting risk will be reded on the balance sheet at fair value).

The fair value hierarchy for the Group’s derivatiassets and liabilities accounted for at fair vadmea
recurring basis was:

As of December 31, 2009 As of December 31, 2008

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Commodity derivatives - 1,065 - 1,065 - 1,995 - 1,995
Total assets - 1,065 - 1,065 - 1,995 - 1,995
Liabilities
Commodity derivatives - (1,110) - (1,110) - (1,655) - (1,655)
Total liabilities - (1,110) - (1,110) - (1,655) - (1,655)
Net (liabilities) assets - (45) - (45) - 340 - 340

The derivative values above are based on an asalfgiach contract as the fundamental unit of atcas
required by ASC No. 820; therefore, derivative tssad liabilities with the same counterparty aog n
reflected net where the legal right of offset exi€bains or losses from contracts in one level bagpffset
by gains or losses on contracts in another levblyarthanges in values of physical contracts ortjprs that
are not reflected in the table above.
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Note 15. Financial and derivative instruments (coribued)
Commodity derivative contracts

The Group operates in the worldwide crude oil,nedi product, natural gas and natural gas liquidkets

and is exposed to fluctuations in the prices feisthcommodities. These fluctuations can affecGitmip’s
revenues as well as the cost of operating, invgstind financing activities. Generally, the Groupddicy is

to remain exposed to the market prices of comnexlitHowever, the Group uses futures, forwards, swap
and options in various markets to balance physigalems, meet customer needs, manage price exposure
on specific transactions, and do a limited, immateamount of trading not directly related to theo@'s
physical business. These activities may move thoaiss profile away from market average prices.

The fair value of commodity derivative assets aahblilities as of December 31, 2009 was:

As of December

31, 2009
Assets
Accounts receivable 1,065
Liabilities
Accounts payable 1,110

Hedge accounting has not been used for items itatiie.

As required under ASC No. 815 the amounts showthemreceding table are presented gross (i.e.putith
netting assets and liabilities with the same capatedy where the right of offset and intent to egist).
Derivative assets and liabilities resulting fromgigle commodity contracts have been netted in the
consolidated balance sheet and are recorded asirdascreceivable in the amount of $59 million and
accounts payable in the amount of $104 million.

The gains and losses from commodity derivativesewecluded in the consolidated income statements in
“Cost of purchased crude oil, gas and products”fandhe years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 wer
in total amount of net loss of $781 million (of whirealized losses were $406 million and unrealiaeges
were $375 million) and net income of $902 milliaf (hich realized gain was $502 million and unrzeadi
gain was $400 million), respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, the net position of outditay commodity derivative contracts, primarily to
manage price exposure on underlying operations asignificant.

Currency exchange rate derivative contracts

The Group has foreign currency exchange rate asklting from its international operations. The @ro
does not comprehensively hedge the exposure t@rayrrate changes, although the Group selectively
hedges certain foreign currency exchange rate exesssuch as firm commitments for capital projects
local currency tax payments and dividends.

The fair value of foreign currency derivatives assand liabilities open at December 31, 2009 was no
significant.

The impact from foreign currency derivatives durthg year ended December 31, 2009 on the consadidat
income statement was not significant. The net osf outstanding foreign currency swap contrastof
December 31, 2009 also was not significant.
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Note 15. Financial and derivative instruments (coribued)
Credit risk

The Group’s financial instruments that are potdigtiaxposed to concentrations of credit risk consis
primarily of cash equivalents, over-the-counterwdgive contracts and trade receivables. Cash atpnts
are placed in high-quality commercial paper, momayket funds and time deposits with major inteoradl
banks and financial institutions.

The credit risk from the Group’s over-the-counteridative contracts, such as forwards and swaps/ete
from the counterparty to the transaction, typicalymajor bank or financial institution. Individual
counterparty exposure is managed within predetexthicredit limits and includes the use of cash-call
margins when appropriate, thereby reducing the afskignificant non-performance. The Group alsosuse
futures contracts, but futures have a negligibleditrrisk because they are traded on the New York
Mercantile Exchange or the ICE Futures.

Certain of the Group’s derivative instruments confarovisions that require the Group to post celat if
the derivative exposure exceeds a threshold amdtetGroup has contracts with fixed threshold aneun
and other contracts with variable threshold amotimi$ are contingent on the Group’s credit ratifige
variable threshold amounts typically decline fowés credit ratings, while both the variable andefix
threshold amounts typically revert to zero if theo@ falls below investment grade. Cash is the anm
collateral in all contracts; however, many contsaatso permit the Group to post letters of credit a
collateral.

There were no derivative instruments with such itmégk-related contingent features that were Irahility
position on December 31, 2009. The Group postedndi®ibn in collateral in the normal course of busss
for the over-the-counter derivatives. If the Graupredit rating were lowered one level from its ‘BB
rating (per Standard and Poors) on December 319,204 it would be below investment grade, the @Grou
would be required to post additional collateratbéfmillion to the Group’s counterparties for theepthe-
counter derivatives, either with cash or letterx@dit. The maximum additional collateral basedtlom
lowest downgrade would be $14 million in total.

Note 16.Business combinations

During 2009, a Group company acquired the remai@®g% of share capital of OAO RITEK (“RITEK”)
for $235 million, thereby increasing the Group’saghto 100%. RITEK is a crude oil producing company
operating in European Russia and Western Siberia.

In the first quarter of 2009, the Group acquired%Ointerests in OO0 Smolenskneftesnab, OO0 IRT
Investment, OO0 PM Invest and OOO Retaier Hous&288 million. These are holding companies, which
between them own 96 petrol stations and plots d ia Moscow, the Moscow region and other regiohns o
central European Russia. This acquisition was niadeder to expand the Group’s presence on the most
advantageous retail market in the Russian Federafioe Group allocated $165 million to goodwill, 181
million to property, plant and equipment, $15 noitlito other assets, $8 million to deferred taxiligband

$47 million to other liabilities. The value of pregy, plant and equipment was determined by an
independent appraiser.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Group acquiré@% interests in ZAO Association Grand and OOO Mega
Oil M for $493 million. ZAO Association Grand andd® Mega Oil M are holding companies, owning 181
petrol stations in Moscow, the Moscow region anfleotregions of central European Russia. This
acquisition was made in order to expand the Groppsence on the most advantageous retail markie¢in
Russian Federation. The Group allocated $196 miltm goodwill, $334 million to property, plant and
equipment, $46 million to other assets, $14 milliondeferred tax liability and $69 million to other
liabilities. The value of property, plant and equgnt was determined by an independent appraiser.

33



OAO LUKOIL
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

Note 16. Business combinations (continued)

In March 2008, a Group company entered into aneagesit with a related party, whose management and
directors include members of the Group’s managemedtBoard of Directors, to acquire a 64.31% irgere
in TGK-8 for approximately $2,117 million. The phase consideration partly consists of 23.55 million
shares of common stock of the Company (at a mavk&ie of approximately $1,620 million). The
transaction was finalized in May 2008. The follogitable summarizes the determined fair value of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed of TGKiBeadate of acquisition. The value of propertgnpland
equipment was determined by an independent appraise

Cash and short-term investments 724
Other current assets 266
Property, plant and equipment 2,092
Other non-current assets 319
Total assets acquired 3,401
Current liabilities (196)
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (357)
Long-term debt (149)
Minority interest (582)
Total liabilities assumed (1,284)
Net assets acquired 2,117

From May to December 2008, a Group company acqaidelitional interests in TGK-8 for a total of $1507
million. These acquisitions increased the Groupiership to 95.53%. As a result of this additional
acquisition the Group recognized property, plard aguipment and a deferred tax liability amountiog
$802 million and $192 million, respectively. Frormndiary to June 2009, a Group company acquired the
remaining 4.47% of share capital of TGK-8 for apgmately $127 million. The acquisition increasee th
Group’s ownership to 100%. TGK-8 is a power genegatompany which owns power plants located in the
Astrakhan, Volgograd and Rostov regions, the Krdanand Stavropol Districts, and the Republic of
Dagestan of the Russian Federation. This acquisiianade in accordance with the Company’s plans to
develop its electric power business.

In July 2008, a Group company signed an agreemeatduire a 100% interest in the Akpet group fds35
million. The transaction was finalized in Novemk2008. Based on the agreement there were three
payments of purchase consideration: the first paynmethe amount of $250 million was paid at théedaf
finalization; second and third deferred paymentsewgaid in April and October 2009. The Akpet group
operated 689 petrol filling stations on the badisdealer agreements and owned eight refined product
terminals, five LNG storage tanks, three jet fugghtinals and a lubricant production plant in Turk€&ge
Group allocated $114 million to goodwill, $271 riwh to intangible assets and $241 million to proper
plant and equipment. The value of intangible assetisproperty, plant and equipment was determiyeahb
independent appraiser.

In March 2008, a Group company entered into aneagest to acquire 75 petrol stations and storage
facilities in Bulgaria for approximately $367 mdh. The transaction was finalized in the secondtquaf
2008. The Group determined the fair value of assetsired and as a result recognized property jplach
equipment of $367 million.

These business combinations did not have a matenlct on the Group’s consolidated operationgtier

years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. Therefongro-forma income statement information has been
provided.
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Note 17.Consolidation of Variable Interest Entity

The Group and ConocoPhillips have a joint ventuMNG which develops oil reserves in the Timan-
Pechora region of the Russian Federation. The GandpConocoPhillips have equal voting rights ower t
joint venture’s activity and effective ownershigdarests of 70% and 30%, respectively.

The Group determined that NMNG is a variable irgerentity as the Group’s voting rights are not
proportionate to its ownership rights and all of N®'s activities are conducted on behalf of the Grand
ConocoPhillips, its related party. The Group is sidared to be the primary beneficiary and has
consolidated NMNG.

NMNG's total assets were approximately $5.9 billenmd $7.1 billion as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

The Group and ConocoPhillips agreed to provideniiiag to NMNG by means of long-term loans in
proportion to their effective ownership interesthese loans mature from 2035 to 2038, with theooptd
be extended for a further 35 years with the agre¢mieboth parties. As of December 31, 2009, bomgs/
under these agreements bear fixed interest iratingerof 6.8% to 8.2% per annum.

As of December 31, 2009, the amount outstandin@doocoPhillips from NMNG was $1,660 million,
which consists of a number of loans with a weigkdedrage interest rate of 7.79% per annum. Thisuamo
is presented within “Long-term loans and borrowifrgen related parties.”

Note 18. Financial guarantees

The Group has entered into various guarantee anamgts. These arrangements were entered into @ ord
to optimize affiliated companies’ financing ternfhe undiscounted maximum amount of potential future
payments for the guarantees issued in favour oftyegompanies was $50 million and $161 million ds o
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Note 19.Commitments and contingencies
Capital expenditure, exploration and investment grams

The Group owns and operates refineries in BulglrldKOIL Neftochim Bourgas AD) and Romania
(Petrotel-LUKOIL S.A.). As a result of Bulgaria aridomania joining the European Union in 2007,
LUKOIL Neftochim Bourgas AD and Petrotel-LUKOIL S.Are required to upgrade their refining plants to
comply with the requirements of European Uniongdkgion in relation to the quality of produced pé&tum
products and environmental protection. These requénts are stricter than those which previousligtedi
under Bulgarian and Romanian legislation. The Gresfimates the amount of future capital commitment
required to upgrade LUKOIL Neftochim Bourgas AD dretrotel-LUKOIL S.A. to be approximately $49
million and $44 million, respectively.

Under the terms of existing exploration and proiturcticense agreements in Russia the Group hadftth f
certain operations: oil and gas exploration, wetifling, fields development, etc., and the Grodgoahas
commitments to reach a defined level of extractonthe fields. Management believes that the Group’s
approved annual capital expenditure budgets futlyec all the requirements of the described license
obligations.
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Group companies have commitments for capital expemdcontributions in the amount of $565 million
related to various production sharing agreemengs the next 28 years.

The Company has signed a three-year agreementiflargdservices with OOO Eurasia Drilling Company.
The volume of these services is based on the Gsagpital construction program, which is re-evadain
an annual basis. The Group estimates the amowatpifal commitment under this agreement for 201ifeto
approximately $610 million.

The Company has signed a strategic agreement doortgoing provision of construction, engineering an
technical services with ZAO Globalstroy-Engineerimge volume of these services is based on theg®ou
capital construction program, which is re-evaluatedan annual basis. The Group estimates the anabunt
capital commitment under this agreement for 2018et@approximately $126 million.

The Group has a commitment to purchase equipmeninfidernization of its petrochemical refinery
Karpatnaftochim Ltd., located in Ukraine, duringcnivo years in the amount of $55 million.

The Group has a commitment to execute the capimastouction program of TGK-8 (refer to Note 16.
Business combinations) and under the terms ofpfogram power plants with total capacity of 890 MW
should be constructed. Currently the Group is appgocertain amendments to the capital construction
program, which included its extension by the en@@13. As of December 31, 2009, the Group estimates
the amount of this commitment to be approximat&g4smillion.

Operating lease obligations

Group companies have commitments of $974 milliomarily for the lease of vessels and petroleum
distribution outlets. Operating lease expenses B&85 million and $170 million during the years edd
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Commisngm minimum rentals under these leases as of
December 31, 2009 are as follows:

As of December

31, 2009
2010 276
2011 172
2012 135
2013 104
2014 93
beyond 194

Insurance

The insurance industry in the Russian Federatighcantain other areas where the Group has opesaition

in the course of development. Management belidvatsthe Group has adequate property damage coverage
for its main production assets. In respect of thpedty liability for property and environmental dage
arising from accidents on Group property or retatim Group operations, the Group has insuranceragee

that is generally higher than insurance limitstsethe local legal requirements. Management bedigkiat

the Group has adequate insurance coverage ofgke& rihich could have a material effect on the @imu
operations and financial position.

Environmental liabilities

Group companies and their predecessor entities tyaeated in the Russian Federation and other deant
for many years and, within certain parts of therapiens, environmental related problems have deezlo
Environmental regulations are currently under adasition in the Russian Federation and other areas
where the Group has operations. Group companiesnedyl assess and evaluate their obligations in
response to new and changing legislation.
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

As liabilities in respect of the Group’s environrtedrobligations are able to be determined, theycasrged
against income. The likelihood and amount of liéie#$ relating to environmental obligations under
proposed or any future legislation cannot be reasignestimated at present and could become material
Under existing legislation, however, managemerieles that there are no significant unrecordedliieds

or contingencies, which could have a materiallyeade effect on the operating results or finanaisition

of the Group.

Social assets

Certain Group companies contribute to Governmerdnspred programs, the maintenance of local
infrastructure and the welfare of their employeathiw the Russian Federation and elsewhere. Such
contributions include assistance with the consitoactdevelopment and maintenance of housing, halspit
and transport services, recreation and other sogats. The funding of such assistance is peritbgica
determined by management and is appropriatelyaliggtl or expensed as incurred.

Taxation environment

The taxation systems in the Russian Federatiorotrat emerging markets where Group companies aperat
are relatively new and are characterized by nunsetaxes and frequently changing legislation, whgh
often unclear, contradictory, and subject to intet@tion. Often, differing interpretations exist @mg
different tax authorities within the same juriséics and among taxing authorities in differentgdictions.
Taxes are subject to review and investigation byumber of authorities, which are enabled by law to
impose severe fines, penalties and interest chahgdhe Russian Federation a tax year remains @qren
review by the tax authorities during the three sgobent calendar years; however, under certain
circumstances a tax year may remain open longeermevents within the Russian Federation sugbast t
the tax authorities are taking a more assertivatiposin their interpretation and enforcement ok ta
legislation. Such factors may create taxation riskghe Russian Federation and other emerging rwarke
where Group companies operate substantially mgréfigiant than those in other countries where taxat
regimes have been subject to development andickgidn over long periods.

The tax authorities in each region may have a whffeinterpretation of similar taxation issues whinay
result in taxation issues successfully defendedhleyGroup in one region being unsuccessful in aroth
region. There is some direction provided from thatwal authority based in Moscow on particular texa
issues.

The Group has implemented tax planning and managtestrategies based on existing legislation atithe

of implementation. The Group is subject to tax atitg audits on an ongoing basis, as is normalhim t
Russian environment and other republics of the ér®oviet Union, and, at times, the authoritiesehav
attempted to impose additional significant taxegha Group. Management believes that it has adelyuat
met and provided for tax liabilities based on it$erpretation of existing tax legislation. Howevére
relevant tax authorities may have differing intetptions and the effects on the financial statesyéhthe
authorities were successful in enforcing theirrptetations, could be significant.

Litigation and claims

On November 27, 2001, Archangel Diamond Corpora(i#kDC”), a Canadian diamond development
company, filed a lawsuit in the District Court oeBver, Colorado against OAO Archangelskgeoldobycha
(“AGD"), a Group company, and the Company (togettiee “Defendants”). ADC alleged that the
Defendants interfered with the transfer of a diatherploration license to Almazny Bereg, a joint tuea
between ADC and AGD. ADC claimed total damages ppraximately $4.8 billion, including
compensatory damages of $1.2 billion and punitigenaiges of $3.6 billion. On October 15, 2002, the
District Court dismissed the lawsuit for lack ofgenal jurisdiction.
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

This ruling was upheld by the Colorado Court of Agls on March 25, 2004. On November 21, 2005, the
Colorado Supreme Court affirmed the lower courtding that no specific jurisdiction exists over the
Defendants. By virtue of this finding, AGD (the Hel of the diamond exploration license) was disetss
from the lawsuit. The Supreme Court found, howetleat the trial court made a procedural error hbilynig

to hold an evidentiary hearing before making itéingi concerning general jurisdiction regarding the
Company, which is whether the Company had systeraatil continuous contacts in the State of Coloeddo
the time the lawsuit was filed. In a modified opimidated December 19, 2005, the Colorado Supremsg Co
remanded the case to the Colorado Court of Apgéatead of the District Court) to consider whettter
lawsuit should have been dismissed on alternativargls (i.e., forum non conveniens). On June 20620
the Colorado Court of Appeals declined to dismis dase based on forum non conveniens. The Company
filed a petition for certiorari on August 28, 200&sking the Colorado Supreme Court to review this
decision. On March 5, 2007, the Colorado SupremartCemanded the case to the District Court. OreJun
11, 2007, the District Court ruled it would condwst evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether the
Company is subject to general personal jurisdictionthe State of Colorado. Discovery regarding
jurisdiction was commenced. On June 26, 2009, tkhreditors of ADC filed an Involuntary Bankruptcy
Petition putting ADC into bankruptcy. ADC ultimagetonfirmed entry of an Order For Relief and the
matter was converted to a Chapter 11 Case by oated September 29, 2009. On November 25, 2009,
after adding a claim, ADC removed the case fromGbtrado District Court to the US Bankruptcy Court
On December 22, 2009, the Company filed a motiakiag to have the case remanded to the Colorado
District Court. On December 31, 2009, before theas a ruling on the motion seeking remand ADC fded
motion seeking withdrawal of the reference fromltaakruptcy and the case be heard by US DistrictriCo
On February 3, 2010, the US Bankruptcy Court omi¢he Motion For Withdrawal Of The Reference be
transferred to the US District Court for furthetian. All pending motions as well as discovery atayed
pending further order of the Court. Management glemvigorously defend the matter. Management does
not believe that the ultimate resolution of thisttmawill have a material adverse effect on the upie
financial condition.

In 2008 and 2009, the Federal Anti-monopoly Serdgt¢éhe Russian Federation (“FAS of Russia”) issued
two decisions against major Russian oil comparinediding the Company and the Group’s refinery pdan
alleging abuse of their dominant position in thigpododucts wholesale market of the Russian Fedsrati

The Moscow Arbitration Court combined all refingslants’ appeals against the first decision. Thet nex
appeal hearing was scheduled for April 8, 2010.

The second decision of FAS of Russia was appeajethé refinery plants in their local courts. On
February 8, 2010, the Arbitration Court of Nizhiwjorod Region satisfied the request of OOO LUKOIL-
Nizhnegorodnefteorgsintez to recognize as illegaldecisions of FAS of Russia dated SeptemberQdd 2
and the resolution to impose fines in the amour@8tf million. The appeals of the other refineryntaare
currently suspended.

In the second half of 2008 and first half of 20@% FAS of Russia filed claims against several @rou
companies in relation to violation of the anti-mpoly regulation. The companies were accused of
violations primarily involving abuse of their domaint market position via setting monopolisticallyglhi
retail prices in coordination with other markettpapants. These claims are being appealed in¢hes.

The total amount of penalties assessed under thenetrative law for the violation of anti-monopoly
regulation by the Group in 2008-2009 is $290 milliddanagement believes that the Group complied with
all regulatory and legal requirements and, consetijjebelieves that the ultimate resolution of the
antimonopoly claims will lead to cancellation ogrsificant reduction of these penalties and will have a
material adverse impact on the Group’s operatisglte or financial condition.
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

The Group is involved in various other claims aedal proceedings arising in the normal course of
business. While these claims may seek substarstmbdes against the Group and are subject to uimtgrta
inherent in any litigation, management does nakebelthat the ultimate resolution of such matteitshave

a material adverse impact on the Group’s operagnglts or financial condition.

Note 20. Related party transactions

In the rapidly developing business environmenthie Russian Federation, companies and individuais ha
frequently used nominees and other forms of intdiarg companies in transactions. The senior
management of the Company believes that the Graspappropriate procedures in place to identify and
properly disclose transactions with related partiesthis environment and has disclosed all of the
relationships identified which it deemed to be Higant. Related party sales and purchases of rall @il
products were primarily to and from affiliated commges and the Company’s shareholder ConocoPhillips.
Related party processing services were provideaffiliated refineries. Insurance services were es by

the related parties, whose management and diraattgle members of the Group’s management.

Below are related party transactions not discladedwhere in the financial statements. Refer aldédtes
3,4,7,10,11, 13, 16, 17, 18 and 21 for othemgactions with related parties.

Sales of oil and oil products to related partiesen®l,152 million, $436 million and $652 millionrfthe
years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 ciasghp.

Other sales to related parties were $69 million6 $8illion and $77 million for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Purchases of oil and oil products from relatediparnvere $862 million, $1,891 million and $1,363limn
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and, 28€pectively.

Purchases of processing services from relatedegaviere $539 million, nil and nil for the years edd
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Purchases of insurance services from related pastze nil, $93 million and $143 million during thears
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respactivel

Other purchases from related parties were $28 anills33 million and $26 million for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Amounts receivable from related parties, includimens and advances, were $591 million and $248amill
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.ultsopayable to related parties were $97 milliod an
$36 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, retspey.

Note 21.Compensation plan

During the period from 2007 to 2009, the Compang Aacompensation plan available to certain members
of management, which is based on assigned shatdlgsravides compensation consisting of two parts.

The first part represented annual bonuses thabased on the number of assigned shares and ambunt o
dividend per share. The payment of these bonusamiingent on the Group meeting certain finankials

in each financial year. The second is based uperCttmpany’s common stock appreciation from 2007 to
2009, with rights vested in December 2009. The rema assigned shares is approximately 15.5 million
shares. For the first part of the share plan theu@@rrecognizes a liability based on expected divideand
number of assigned shares.
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Note 21. Compensation plan (continued)

The second part of the share plan is classifieeagy and the grant date fair value of the plaessmated
using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing mod&lated to this plan the Group recorded $105anill
$134 million and $125 million of compensation experuring the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007, respectively, of which $20 million, $I@Blion and $103 million are recognized as an iasein
additional paid-in capital in respective periodecBuse of unfavorable market situation the conuhtir
exercising the second part of this share plan wetemet therefore no payments or share transfers to
employees took place.

In December 2009, the Company introduced a new easgiion plan to certain members of management
for the period from 2010 to 2012. Its conditione amilar to the conditions of the previous compdios
plan. The number of assigned shares is approxiyna#®B million shares. The Group is currently finglg

the calculation of the grant date fair value of iegv plan.

Note 22. Segment information

Presented below is information about the Groupsraiing and geographical segments for the yearsdend
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, in accordanteABC No. 280 (former SFAS No. 13Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Infioomig.

The Group has four operating segments — explorai@hproduction; refining, marketing and distribouti
chemicals and other business segments. These sisghaste been determined based on the nature of thei
operations. Management on a regular basis ass#ssgmrformance of these operating segments. The
exploration and production segment explores foveltgs and produces primarily crude oil. The refini
marketing and distribution segment processes cnidinto refined products and purchases, sells and
transports crude oil and refined petroleum produ€tsee chemicals segment refines and sells chemical
products. Activities of the other business operatsegment include power generation business and
development of businesses beyond the Group’s imaditoperations.

Geographical segments have been determined bast#t: @rea of operations and include three segments.
They are Western Siberia, European Russia anchatienal.

Operating segments

Refining,
Exploration marketing and
2009 and production distribution Chemicals Other Elimination Consolidated
Sales
Third parties 2,257 76,650 1,022 1,154 - 81,083
Inter-segment 22,096 784 162 1,765 (24,807) -
Total sales 24,353 77,434 1,184 2,919 (24,807) 81,083
Operating expenses and
total cost of purchases 3,668 55,943 812 2,346 (23,668) 39,101
Depreciation, depletion
and amortization 2,613 936 41 347 - 3,937
Interest expense 886 1,205 14 407 (1,845) 667
Income tax expense 1,221 821 12 Q) (59) 1,994
Net income 5,456 2,263 (69) (310) (329) 7,011
Total assets 54,924 56,299 1,371 18,091 (51,666) 79,019
Capital expenditures 4,687 1,391 113 343 - 6,534
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Note 22. Segment information (continued)

Refining,
Exploration marketing and
2008 and production distribution Chemicals Other Elimination Consolidated
Sales
Third parties 1,753 103,132 2,067 728 - 107,680
Inter-segment 25,854 1,582 28 2,057 (29,521) -
Total sales 27,607 104,714 2,095 2,785 (29,521) 107,680
Operating expenses and
total cost of purchases 3,779 67,061 1,934 2,361 (29,158) 45,977
Depreciation, depletion
and amortization 1,938 817 34 169 - 2,958
Interest expense 870 570 4 295 (1,348) 391
Income tax expense 955 2,510 14 (66) 54 3,467
Net income 4,234 5,130 a17) (160) 57 9,144
Total assets 47,130 45,039 940 12,751 (34,399) 71,461
Capital expenditures 7,889 2,150 121 429 - 10,589
Refining,
Exploration marketing and
2007 and production distribution Chemicals Other Elimination Consolidated
Sales
Third parties 1,527 77,960 2,348 56 - 81,891
Inter-segment 22,331 2,191 19 325 (24,866) -
Total sales 23,858 80,151 2,367 381 (24,866) 81,891
Operating expenses and
total cost of purchases 3,813 52,032 1,904 206 (23,801) 34,154
Depreciation, depletion
and amortization 1,427 663 28 54 - 2,172
Interest expense 611 621 4 218 (1,121) 333
Income tax expense 1,783 1,639 23 4 - 3,449
Net income 4,686 4,770 148 243 (336) 9,511
Total assets 43,395 41,091 1,004 8,412 (34,270) 59,632
Capital expenditures 7,262 1,822 171 117 - 9,372
Geographical segments
2009 2008 2007
Sales of crude oil within Russia 735 600 440
Export of crude oil and sales of crude oil by fgresubsidiaries 19,914 24,007 19,258
Sales of petroleum products within Russia 8,101 13,872 9,583
Export of petroleum products and sales of petroleumducts by foreign
subsidiaries 46,888 62,542 47,154
Sales of chemicals within Russia 514 880 733
Export of chemicals and sales of chemicals by fpreiubsidiaries 574 1,232 1,569
Other sales within Russia 2,235 2,335 1,644
Other export sales and other sales by foreign digvgs 2,122 2,212 1,510
Total sales 81,083 107,680 81,891
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Note 22. Segment information (continued)

2009 Western Siberia  European Russia  International Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 130 13,750 67,203 - 81,083

Inter-segment 11,035 26,918 18 (37,971) -
Total sales 11,165 40,668 67,221 (37,971) 81,083
Operating expenses and total
cost of purchases 2,035 15,151 59,061 (37,146) 39,101
Depletion, depreciation and
amortization 963 2,223 751 - 3,937
Interest expense 62 643 406 (444) 667
Income taxes 624 1,210 219 (59) 1,994
Net income 2,873 4,638 (168) (332) 7,011
Total assets 20,418 43,890 28,038 (13,327) 79,019
Capital expenditures 1,878 3,186 1,470 - 6,534
2008 Western Siberia  European Russia  International Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 138 19,905 87,637 - 107,680

Inter-segment 15,436 38,808 40 (54,284) -
Total sales 15,574 58,713 87,677 (54,284) 107,680
Operating expenses and total
cost of purchases 2,011 19,789 78,220 (54,043) 45,977
Depletion, depreciation and
amortization 832 1,499 627 - 2,958
Interest expense 37 196 260 (102) 391
Income taxes 640 2,397 376 54 3,467
Net income 1,848 7,615 (449) 130 9,144
Total assets 17,136 37,598 23,577 (6,850) 71,461
Capital expenditures 2,915 5,660 2,014 - 10,589
2007 Western Siberia  European Russia  International Elimination Consolidated
Sales

Third parties 118 13,226 68,547 - 81,891

Inter-segment 14,045 31,781 30 (45,856) -
Total sales 14,163 45,007 68,577 (45,856) 81,891
Operating expenses and total
cost of purchases 1,995 17,323 59,692 (44,856) 34,154
Depletion, depreciation and
amortization 649 969 554 - 2,172
Interest expense 22 244 239 172) 333
Income taxes 973 2,044 432 - 3,449
Net income 3,587 5,341 884 (301) 9,511
Total assets 16,227 32,764 20,805 (10,164) 59,632
Capital expenditures 2,253 5,448 1,671 - 9,372
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Note 22. Segment information (continued)

The Group’s international sales to third partiesliude sales in Switzerland of $37,724 million, $68
million and $35,868 million for the years ended Beber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The
Group’s international sales to third parties inéwles in the USA of $8,144 million, $12,171 roitliand
$11,481 million for the years ended December 3D92@008 and 2007, respectively. These amounts are
attributed to individual countries based on théspliction of subsidiaries making the sale.

Note 23.Subsequent events

In accordance with the requirements of ASC No. 8SGbsequent eventsthe Group evaluated subsequent
events through the date the financial statements waeailable to be issued. Therefore subsequemt®ve
were evaluated by the Group up to March 19, 2010.

In January 2010, the Company signed a developmahtpaoduction agreement at West Qurna-2 field
located in the south of Irag. The parties to theagent are: Iraq’s state-owned South Oil Compaythe
contracting consortium formed by the Iraqgi statared North Oil Company, the Company and Norway’s
Statoil ASA. The Company’s share in the projed6s25%. As at the day of the agreement the Grosmha
commitment in the amount of approximately $281 imill The West Qurna-2 field has recoverable reserve
of about 12.9 billion barrels.
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This section provides unaudited supplemental infdiom on oil and gas exploration and production

activities in accordance with ASC No. 932 (formefAS No. 69, “Disclosures About Oil and Gas
Producing Activities) in six separate tables:

l. Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas produciativities

Il. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisitexploration, and development activities
M. Results of operations for oil and gas producingies

V. Reserve quantity information
V. Standardized measure of discounted future netftash
V1. Principal sources of changes in the standardizeasune of discounted future net cash flows

Amounts shown for equity companies represent theus share in its exploration and production
affiliates, which are accounted for using the gguaiethod of accounting.

I. Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas produng activities

Group’s
Total share in
consolidated equity
As of December 31, 2009 International Russia companies companies Total
Unproved oil and gas properties 545 305 850 285 1,135
Proved oil and gas properties 5,826 47,237 53,063 1,998 55,061
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and
amortization (1,201) (16,460) (17,661) (454) (18,115)
Net capitalized costs 5,170 31,082 36,252 1,829 38,081

Net capitalized costs related to asset retiremeédigations in the amount of $815 million, as of
December 31, 2009, was included in net capitalczeds.

Group’s
Total share in
consolidated equity
As of December 31, 2008 International Russia companies companies Total
Unproved oil and gas properties 519 507 1,026 158 1,184
Proved oil and gas properties 5,391 42,248 47,639 855 48,494
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and
amortization (901) (14,649) (15,550) (209) (15,759)
Net capitalized costs 5,009 28,106 33,115 804 33,919

Net capitalized costs related to asset retiremeédigations in the amount of $439 million, as of
December 31, 2008, was included in net capitalceis.

Group’s
Total share in
consolidated equity
As of December 31, 2007 International  Russia  companies companies Total
Unproved oil and gas properties 454 446 900 20 920
Proved oil and gas properties 3,906 36,664 40,570 677 41,247
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and
amortization (644) (13,813) (14,457) (164) (14,621)
Net capitalized costs 3,716 23,297 27,013 533 27,546

Net capitalized costs related to asset retiremdaligations in the amount of $406 million, as of
December 31, 2007, was included in net capitalczeds.
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II. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquigh, exploration, and development activities

Group’s

Total share in

consolidatec equity
Year ended December 31, 2009 International Russia companies companies Total
Acquisition of properties - proved - 17 17 1,154 1,171
Acquisition of properties - unproved - 23 23 97 120
Exploration costs 221 162 383 11 394
Development costs 549 3,726 4,275 146 4,421
Total costs incurred 770 3,928 4,698 1,408 6,106

Group’s

Total share in

consolidatec equity
Year ended December 31, 2008 International Russia companies companies Total
Acquisition of properties - proved 806 6 812 - 812
Acquisition of properties - unproved 49 5 54 60
Exploration costs 357 313 670 679
Development costs 719 6,430 7,149 139 7,288
Total costs incurred 1,931 6,754 8,685 154 8,839

Group’s

Total share in

consolidatec equity
Year ended December 31, 2007 International Russia companies companies Total
Acquisition of properties - proved - 393 393 - 393
Acquisition of properties - unproved 27 486 513 - 513
Exploration costs 180 366 546 12 558
Development costs 670 5,887 6,557 103 6,660
Total costs incurred 877 7,132 8,009 115 8,124
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lll. Results of operations for oil and gas producing adties

The Group’s results of operations for oil and gesdpcing activities are presented below. In acaocda

with ASC No. 932, sales and transfers to Group @mgs are based on market prices. Income taxes are

based on statutory rates. The results of operaéralside corporate overhead and interest costs.

Group’s
Total share in
consolidated equity
Year ended December 31, 2009 International Russia companies companies Total
Revenue
Sales 1,472 13,870 15,342 824 16,166
Transfers - 11,850 11,850 17 11,867
Total revenues 1,472 25,720 27,192 841 28,033
Production costs (excluding production taxes) (195) (2,592) (2,787) (98) (2,885)
Exploration expense (147) (72) (218) (20) (228)
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (323) (2,235) (2,558) (105) (2,663)
Accretion expense - (43) (43) - (43)
Taxes other than income taxes (206) (12,830) (13,036) (186) (13,222)
Related income taxes (198) (1,399) (1,597) (203) (1,800)
Total results of operations for producing actiitie 403 6,550 6,953 239 7,192
Group’s
Total share in
consolidated equity
Year ended December 31, 2008 International Russia companies companies Total
Revenue
Sales 1,839 24,307 26,146 1,112 27,258
Transfers - 17,941 17,941 11 17,952
Total revenues 1,839 42,248 44,087 1,123 45,210
Production costs (excluding production taxes) (202) (3,006) (3,208) (74) (3,282)
Exploration expense (356) (131) (487) ) (494)
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (313) (1,572) (1,885) (52) (1,937)
Accretion expense - (25) (25) - (25)
Taxes other than income taxes (61) (24,668) (24,729) (170) (24,899)
Related income taxes (294) (3,272) (3,566) (481) (4,047)
Total results of operations for producing actistie 613 9,574 10,187 339 10,526
Group’s
Total share in
consolidated equity
Year ended December 31, 2007 International Russia companies companies Total
Revenue
Sales 1,351 15,232 16,583 883 17,466
Transfers - 15,444 15,444 79 15,523
Total revenues 1,351 30,676 32,027 962 32,989
Production costs (excluding production taxes) (140) (2,638) (2,778) (76) (2,854)
Exploration expense (158) (149) (307) (13) (320)
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (259) (1,130) (2,389) (33) (1,422)
Accretion expense - (22) (22) - (22)
Taxes other than income taxes (7) (17,087) (17,094) (134) (17,228)
Related income taxes (384) (2,378) (2,762) (336) (3,098)
Total results of operations for producing actistie 403 7,273 7,676 370 8,046
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IV. Reserve quantity information

Proved reserves are the estimated quantities @noilgas reserves which geological and engineelidtay
demonstrate will be recoverable with reasonableéagdy in future years from known reservoirs under
existing economic and operating conditions. In adaoce with ASC No. 932 existing economic and
operating conditions are based on the 12-monthsageerice (for the year 2009) or year-end prioe ttfie
periods before 2009) and the year-end costs. Pnasstves do not include additional quantitiesibfiod
gas reserves that may result from applying secgndartertiary recovery techniques not yet tested an
determined to be economic.

Proved developed reserves are the quantities ekgdroeserves expected to be recovered throughrexist
wells with existing equipment and operating methods

Due to the inherent uncertainties and the necégdimnited nature of reservoir data, estimates edarves
are inherently imprecise, require the applicatidnjulgment and are subject to change as additional
information becomes available.

Management has included within proved reservesfgignt quantities which the Group expects to praalu
after the expiry dates of certain of its currenddqurction licenses in the Russian Federation. THes&U
Law of the Russian Federation states that, upoiradiqn, a license is subject to renewal at thédtive of

the license holder provided that further explomtiappraisal, production or remediation activitee
necessary and provided that the license holdendiagiolated the terms of the license. Since tinedaplies
both to newly issued and old licenses and the Gitmagp currently renewed nearly 50% of its licenses,
management believes that licenses will be renevpen their expiration for the remainder of the equoiw

life of each respective field.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010‘B8tractive activities— Oil and Gas (Topic 932): Qil
and Gas Reserve Estimation and Disclosurd$é adoption of ASU No. 2010-03 did not have aisigant
impact on the Group’s proved reserves and starztatdneasure of discounted future net cash flows.

Estimated net proved oil and gas reserves and elahgreto for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2
and 2007, are shown in the tables set out below.
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Group’s share

Millions of barrels Consolidated subsidiaries in equi.ty Total
companies
International Russia Total
Crude oil
January 1, 2007 410 15,183 15,593 334 15,927
Revisions of previous estimates 2 35 37 (23) 14
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place* - 178 178 (104) 74
Extensions and discoveries 20 463 483 35 518
Production (26) (668) (694) (29) (713)
Sales of reserves (105) - (105) - (105)
December 31, 2007 301 15,191 15,492 223 15,715
Revisions of previous estimates 80 (1,205) (1,125) 1 (1,124)
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 17 19 36 5 41
Extensions and discoveries 30 493 523 6 529
Production (24) (660) (684) (19) (703)
December 31, 2008 404 13,838 14,242 216 14,458
Revisions of previous estimates (85) (636) (721) 15 (706)
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place - 39 39 102 141
Extensions and discoveries 37 503 540 - 540
Production (27) (673) (700) (20) (720)
Sales of reserves - 17) (17) - (17)
December 31, 2009 329 13,054 13,383 313 13,696

Proved developed reserves

December 31, 2007 164 9,715 9,879 180 10,059
December 31, 2008 208 8,806 9,014 156 9,170
December 31, 2009 186 8,442 8,628 199 8,827

* Purchase of hydrocarbons in place for equity canigs includes transfers of reserves to the catetelil group upon those equity
companies becoming subject to consolidation.

The minority interest share included in the abmtaltproved reserves was 242 million barrels, 426am
barrels and 559 million barrels as of December2BD9, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The minoritgriest
share included in the above proved developed resewas 135 million barrels, 203 million barrels 228
million barrels as of December 31, 2009, 2008 ad@d72 respectively. Substantially all minority irdets
relate to the reserves in the Russian Federation.
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Group's share

Billions of cubic feet Consolidated subsidiaries in equ[ty Total
companies
International Russia Total
Natural gas
January 1, 2007 4,276 22,128 26,404 193 26,597
Revisions of previous estimates 506 550 1,056 (2) 1,054
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place* - 19 19 (14) 5
Extensions and discoveries 207 630 837 7 844
Production (87) (482) (569) (10) (579)
December 31, 2007 4,902 22,845 27,747 174 27,921
Revisions of previous estimates 566 (386) 180 4 184
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 1,395 4 1,399 - , 3991
Extensions and discoveries 118 310 428 7 435
Production (175) (500) (675) (11) (686)
December 31, 2008 6,806 22,273 29,079 174 29,253
Revisions of previous estimates (294) (6,081) (6,375) 3) (6,378)
Purchase of hydrocarbons in place - 13 13 130 143
Extensions and discoveries 294 164 458 - 458
Production (175) (436) (611) (15) (626)
December 31, 2009 6,631 15,933 22,564 286 22,850
Proved developed reserves:
December 31, 2007 1,369 6,553 7,922 133 8,055
December 31, 2008 1,912 5,893 7,805 114 7,919
December 31, 2009 2,002 5,636 7,638 157 7,795

* Purchase of hydrocarbons in place for equity canigs includes transfers of reserves to the cateelil group upon those equity

companies becoming subject to consolidation.

The minority interest share included in the abmtaltproved reserves was 36 billion cubic feetp8don
cubic feet and 49 billion cubic feet as of DecemB&r 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The mipnorit
interest share included in the above proved deeelopserves was 23 billion cubic feet, 24 billiarbic
feet and 30 billion cubic feet as of December 3002 2008 and 2007, respectively. Substantially all
minority interests relate to the reserves in thedfan Federation.

As a result of changes to development plans andrissioning dates, the Company transferred partsof i

gas reserves from the category of proved resemts lower reserve categories and into resources.
Management believes that these volumes will bermetl into the proved reserves category as their
development start date draws nearer or some ndwdeagies are applied.
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V. Standardized measure of discounted future neslcdlows

The standardized measure of discounted future as#t flows, related to the above oil and gas reserge
calculated in accordance with the requirements 8CANo. 932. Estimated future cash inflows from
production are computed by applying the 12-montiesage price (for the year 2009) or year-end pffice

the periods before 2009) for oil and gas to year-@gumantities of estimated net proved reserves. sidjant

in this calculation for future price changes isited to those required by contractual arrangements
existence at the end of each reporting year. Fudaxelopment and production costs are those esimat
future expenditures necessary to develop and peogear-end estimated proved reserves based oregdar-
cost indices, assuming continuation of year-enchecoc conditions. Estimated future income taxes are
calculated by applying appropriate year-end stayuax rates. These rates reflect allowable dedostand
tax credits and are applied to estimated futuretgxenet cash flows, less the tax bases of relagsets.
Discounted future net cash flows have been caledlaising a ten percent discount factor. Discounting
requires a year-by-year estimate of when futureeedpiures will be incurred and when reserves wéll b
produced.

The information provided in the tables set out beldoes not represent management’s estimate of the
Group’s expected future cash flows or of the valtithe Group’s proved oil and gas reserves. Esamat
proved reserve quantities are imprecise and chawge time as new information becomes available.
Moreover, probable and possible reserves, which Inempme proved in the future, are excluded from the
calculations. The arbitrary valuation prescribedl@mASC No. 932 requires assumptions as to theagimi
and amount of future development and productioriscdse calculations should not be relied uponras a
indication of the Group’s future cash flows or bétvalue of its oil and gas reserves.

Group’s
Total share
consolidated in equity
International Russia companies companies Total
As of December 31, 2009
Future cash inflows 31,025 385,266 416,291 14,816 431,107
Future production and development costs (18,778) (254,811) (273,589) (7,692) (281,281)
Future income tax expenses (2,337) (22,285) (24,622) (1,489) (26,111)
Future net cash flows 9,910 108,170 118,080 5,635 123,715
Discount for estimated timing of cash flows
(10% p.a.) (6,468) (66,015) (72,483) (3,013) (75,496)
Discounted future net cash flows 3,442 42,155 45,597 2,622 48,219
Minority share in discounted future net cash
flows - 1,370 1,370 - 1,370

Included as a part of the $281 billion of futur@guction and development costs are $6.5 billiofutire
dismantlement, abandonment and rehabilitation costs
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Group’s
Total share
consolidated in equity
International Russia companies companies Total
As of December 31, 2008
Future cash inflows 26,612 312,334 338,946 5,546 344,492
Future production and development costs (18,647) (185,733) (204,380) (3,074) (207,454)
Future income tax expenses (318) (21,250) (21,568) (516) (22,084)
Future net cash flows 7,647 105,351 112,998 1,956 114,954
Discount for estimated timing of cash flows
(10% p.a.) (6,132) (64,296) (70,428) (950) (71,378)
Discounted future net cash flows 1,515 41,055 42,570 1,006 43,576
Minority share in discounted future net cash
flows - 1,333 1,333 - 1,333

Included as a part of the $207 billion of futur@guction and development costs are $6.4 billiofutire

dismantlement, abandonment and rehabilitation costs

Group’s
Total share
consolidated in equity
International Russia companies companies Total
As of December 31, 2007
Future cash inflows 34,051 660,363 694,414 17,892 712,306
Future production and development costs (13,015) (442,801) (455,816) (4,639) (460,455)
Future income tax expenses (2,414) (48,552) (50,966) (3,568) (54,534)
Future net cash flows 18,622 169,010 187,632 9,685 197,317
Discount for estimated timing of cash flows
(10% p.a.) (9,576) (106,185) (115,761) (4,857) (120,618)
Discounted future net cash flows 9,046 62,825 71,871 4,828 76,699
Minority share in discounted future net cash
flows - 1,379 1,379 - 1,379

Included as a part of the $460 billion of futur@guction and development costs are $7.8 billiofuaire

dismantlement, abandonment and rehabilitation costs
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VI. Principal sources of changes in the standardizeeasure of discounted future net cash flows

Consolidated companies 2009 2008 2007
Discounted present value as at January 1 42,570 71,871 45,568
Net changes due to purchases and sales of minezlksce 86 (279) (46)
Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, natoafuction costs (11,151) (15,663) (11,848)
Net changes in prices and production costs estimate 36,633 (113,710) 75,908
Net changes in mineral extraction taxes (27,376) 79,317 (43,384)
Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 1,878 1,423 2,947
Development costs incurred during the period 3,201 3,528 2,308
Revisions of previous quantity estimates (4,495) (3,520) 980
Net change in income taxes (1,104) 11,054 (6,562)
Other changes 70 123 185
Accretion of discount 5,285 8,426 5,815
Discounted present value at December 31 45,597 42,570 71,871
Group’s share in equity companies 2009 2008 2007
Discounted present value as at January 1 1,006 4,828 2,888
Net changes due to purchases and sales of minezlksce 1,182 17 (367)
Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, natoafuction costs (547) (872) (739)
Net changes in prices and production costs estimate 2,129 (6,343) 3,622
Net changes in mineral extraction taxes (1,086) 901 (643)
Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 3 38 1,020
Development costs incurred during the period 31 51 74
Revisions of previous quantity estimates 137 13 (716)
Net change in income taxes (442) 1,553 (629)
Other changes 95 239 (38)
Accretion of discount 114 581 356
Discounted present value at December 31 2,622 1,006 4,828
Total 2009 2008 2007
Discounted present value as at January 1 43,576 76,699 48,456
Net changes due to purchases and sales of minezlkce 1,268 (262) (413)
Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, natoafuction costs (11,698) (16,535) (12,587)
Net changes in prices and production costs estimate 38,762 (120,053) 79,530
Net changes in mineral extraction taxes (28,462) 80,218 (44,027)
Extensions and discoveries, less related costs 1,881 1,461 3,967
Development costs incurred during the period 3,232 3,579 2,382
Revisions of previous quantity estimates (4,358) (3,507) 264
Net change in income taxes (1,546) 12,607 (7,191)
Other changes 165 362 147
Accretion of discount 5,399 9,007 6,171
Discounted present value at December 31 48,219 43,576 76,699
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